
Any person requiring disability accommodation should contact the City of Covington at (253) 638-1110 a minimum of 24 hours 
in advance.  For TDD relay service, please use the state’s toll-free relay service (800) 833-6384 and ask the operator to dial 
(253) 638-1110.  

Covington: Unmatched quality of life 
AGENDA 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL AND REGULAR MEETING 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
Tuesday, August 9, 2011                                                                            City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                  16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
Council will interview Planning Commission applicants beginning at 6:30 p.m. 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER – approximately 7:00 p.m. 
   
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   
  
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION:  Pending Litigation. (RCW 42.30.110(1)(i))  
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION - None 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT Persons addressing the Council shall state their name, address, and organization for the record. Speakers 
shall address comments to the City Council, not the audience or the staff. Public Comment shall be for the purpose of the Council receiving 
comment from the public and is not intended for conversation or debate.  Public comments shall be limited to no more than four minutes per 
speaker.  If additional time is needed a person may request that the Council place an item on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Approval of Minutes (Scott) 
C-2. Approval of Vouchers (Hendrickson) 
C-3. Approve Covington/Maple Valley Joint Street Sweeping Agreement (Akramoff) 
C-4. Approve Resolution Approving Cornerstone Final Plat for Recording (Lyons)  

 
PUBLIC HEARING 
1. Receive Public Testimony on Proposed 2011 Comprehensive Plan Amendments (Hart) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
2. Consider Appointments to the Planning Commission (Council) 
3. Consider Ordinance and Planning Commission Recommendation on Medical Marijuana 

Dispensaries and Community Gardens (Springer/Hart) 
4. Introduction to CIP 1127 – SR 516:  Jenkins Creek to 185th Avenue SE (Akramoff/Vondran) 
5. Consider Sublease Agreement with King County (Matheson)  
6. Discuss Multifamily Property Tax Exemption Incentive for Economic Development (Matheson) 
 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS 
 - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT (*See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section) 
 
ADJOURN   

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�


 

Consent Agenda Item C-1 
Covington City Council Meeting 

Date:  August 9, 2011   
 
SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  JUNE 28, 2011 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR 

MEETING MINUTES AND JULY 12, 2011 CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL AND 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES.   

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Sharon G. Scott, City Clerk 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  Proposed Minutes  
 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION:  
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance   _____ Resolution     X     Motion              Other  
 

Councilmember ____________ moves, Councilmember ______________ 
seconds, to approve the June 28, 2011 City Council Regular Meeting 
Minutes and the July 12 City Council Special and Regular Meeting 
Minutes.  
 
 
 

1 of 171



Unapproved Draft – June 28, 2011 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 9, 2011 
 

 1 

City of Covington 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 

Tuesday, June 28, 2011 
 
(This meeting was recorded and will be retained for a period of six years from the date of the 
meeting). 
 
The Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Covington was called to order in the City 
Council Chambers, 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington, Washington, Tuesday, June 28, 
2011, at 7:03 p.m., with Mayor Harto presiding. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Margaret Harto, Mark Lanza, David Lucavish, Marlla Mhoon, Jim Scott, Wayne Snoey, and Jeff 
Wagner. 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Glenn Akramoff, Public Works Director (Acting City Manager); Richard Hart, Community 
Development Director; Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director; Kevin Klason, Covington Police Chief; 
Karla Slate, Community Relations Coordinator; Scott Thomas, Parks & Recreation Director; 
Sara Springer, City Attorney; and Sharon Scott, City Clerk/Executive Assistant. 
 
Mayor Margaret Harto opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
Council Action:  Councilmember Wagner moved and Councilmember Mhoon seconded to 
approve the Agenda as amended to move Consent Item 2 to Continued Business Item 1.  
Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION: 
 Personnel & Human Services Analyst Victoria Throm accepted the Association of 

Washington Cities WellCity Award. 
 

 Parks & Recreation Director Scott Thomas accepted the Parks & Recreation Month 
Proclamation. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT:   
Mayor Harto called for public comments. 
 
There being no comments, Mayor Harto closed the public comment period. 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA: 
C-1. Vouchers #25455-25516, in the Amount of $1,467,070.88, Dated June 14, 2011; and 

Paylocity Payroll Checks #1000044943-1000044964, Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct 
Deposits in the Amount of $136,445.77, Dated June 24, 2011. 
 
 

2 of 171



Unapproved Draft – June 28, 2011 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 9, 2011 
 

 2 

Council Action:  Councilmember Lucavish moved and Councilmember Wagner seconded 
to approve the Consent Agenda.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
REPORTS OF COMMISSIONS
Arts Commission – Chair Sandy Bisordi reported on the June 9 meeting. 

: 

 
Parks & Recreation Commission – No report. 
 
Planning Commission – Chair Sean Smith reported on the June 2 and June 16 meetings. 
 
Human Services Commission – Chair Haris Ahmad reported on the June 9 meeting. 
 
Economic Development Council – Co-Chair Jeff Wagner reported on the June 23 meeting. 
 
CONTINUED BUSINESS: 
1.  Approve MacLeod Reckord Contract Amendment for Scope Changes in Park Design Review 
for Covington Community Park. 
 
Parks & Recreation Director Scott Thomas gave the staff report on this item.  Mr. Thomas 
handed out a revised contract amendment reflecting a change in the compensation amount and an 
additional task to the scope of work. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Lanza moved and Councilmember Snoey seconded to 
authorize the City Manager to execute contract amendment #1 as amended between the 
City of Covington and MacLeod Reckord to complete additional design for the City’s 
Covington Community Park.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
2.  Approve Electric Lightwave Franchise Renewal. 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 07-11 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON GRANTING 
UNTO ELECTRIC LIGHTWAVE, LLC, A DELAWARE 
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, ITS SUCCESSORS AND 
ASSIGNS, FOR THE RIGHT, PRIVILEGE, AUTHORITY AND 
NON-EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE FOR FIVE YEARS TO 
CONSTRUCT, MAINTAIN, OPERATE, REPLACE AND 
REPAIR TELECOMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM, IN, ACROSS, 
OVER, ALONG, UNDER, THROUGH AND BELOW CERTAIN 
DESIGNATED PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, WASHINGTON. 

 

3 of 171



Unapproved Draft – June 28, 2011 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 9, 2011 
 

 3 

Council Action:  Councilmember Scott moved and Councilmember Snoey seconded to 
adopt Ordinance No. 07-11 granting a non-exclusive franchise with Electric Lightwave, 
LLC.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
3.  Police Citizen Volunteer Program Discussion. 
 
Police Chief Kevin Klason gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Councilmembers provided comments and asked questions, and Chief Klason provided responses. 
 
4.  Adopt Agreement with South Correctional Entity (SCORE) for Jail Services. 
 
Police Chief Kevin Klason gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Council provided comments and asked questions, and Chief Klason responded. 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 11-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF COVINGTON AND 
THE SOUTH CORRECTIONAL ENTITY (SCORE), DES 
MOINES, WASHINGTON, FOR THE HOUSING OF INMATES 
IN THE SOUTH CORRECTIONAL ENTITY JAIL. 

 
Council Action:  Councilmember Snoey moved and Councilmember Scott seconded to pass 
Resolution No. 11-04 authorizing the City Manager to execute an agreement between the 
City of Covington, Washington and the South Correction Entity (SCORE), Washington for 
the Housing of Inmates in the SCORE jail.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
5.  Discuss Selection of Citizen and Honorary Citizen of the Year. 
 
Community Relations Coordinator Karla Slate gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Wagner moved to nominate George and Susan Pearson 
for citizens of the year and Councilmember Mhoon seconded.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Snoey moved to nominate Richard Balash and then 
amended to Richard and Ina Balash for honorary citizens of the year, and Councilmember 
Wagner seconded.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS: 
Councilmembers and staff discussed Future Agenda Topics and made comments. 
 

4 of 171



Unapproved Draft – June 28, 2011 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 9, 2011 
 

 4 

Councilmember Marlla Mhoon gave a report on her recent convention experience at the AWC 
conference. 
 
Acting City Manager Glenn Akramoff asked Council for direction as to whether to bring a 
resolution forward supporting the King County Veterans and Human Services Levy.  Council 
requested further information and a presentation. 
 
Community Development Richard Hart mentioned that there had been a recent increase in a 
variety of code enforcement complaints.  Mr. Hart suggested a study session for the Council in 
September or October to give a presentation on the code enforcement process, and Mayor Harto 
agreed. 
 
Councilmember Snoey asked Council if they would like to endorse the $20 car tab fee to support 
King County Metro.  Councilmember Snoey added that King County Metro staff would be 
willing to make a presentation if Council was agreeable.  Council concurred that they would like 
to hear from Metro. 
 
As a follow up to Mr. Akramoff’s report on the utility meetings, Mayor Harto mentioned the 
benefits of continuing the annual meeting with the utilities. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
Mayor Harto called for public comments. 
 
There being no comments, Mayor Harto closed the public comment period. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:40 p.m. 
 
Prepared by:      Submitted by:  
 
__________________________________         
Joan Michaud      Sharon Scott 
Deputy City Clerk     City Clerk 

5 of 171



Unapproved Draft – July 12, 2011 Special and Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 9, 2011 
 

 1 

City of Covington 
Special and Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 

Tuesday, July 12, 2011 
 
(This meeting was recorded and will be retained for a period of six years from the date of the 
meeting). 
 
INTERVIEWS – 6:15-7:00 P.M.: 
The Council conducted interviews for openings on the Covington Economic Development 
Council and the Planning Commission. Applicants interviewed for the Covington Economic 
Development Council included Steven Pand and Ed Cook.  The applicant interviewed for the 
Planning Commission was Joseph Cimaomo, Sr. 
  
The Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Covington was called to order in the City 
Council Chambers, 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington, Washington, Tuesday, July 12, 
2011, at 7:10 p.m., with Mayor Harto presiding. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Margaret Harto, Mark Lanza, David Lucavish, Marlla Mhoon, Jim Scott, Wayne Snoey, and Jeff 
Wagner. 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Derek Matheson, City Manager; Glenn Akramoff, Public Works Director; Noreen Beaufrere, Personnel 
Manager; Richard Hart, Community Development Director; Kevin Klason, Covington Police Chief; 
Karla Slate, Community Relations Coordinator; Scott Thomas, Parks & Recreation Director; 
Sara Springer, City Attorney; and Sharon Scott, City Clerk/Executive Assistant. 
 
Mayor Margaret Harto opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
Council Action:  Councilmember Wagner moved and Councilmember Mhoon seconded to 
approve the Agenda.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION: 
 Bill Block, Director, Committee to End Homelessness in King County, gave a mid-plan 

review report. 
 

 Council presented a proclamation to George and Susan Pearson as the 2011 Citizens of 
the Year, proclaiming Saturday, July 16, 2011, as George and Susan Pearson Day in the 
city of Covington. 
 

 Council presented a proclamation to Richard and Ina Balash as the 2011 Honorary 
Citizens of the Year, proclaiming Sunday, July 17, 2011, as Richard and Ina Balash Day 
in the city of Covington. 
 

6 of 171



Unapproved Draft – July 12, 2011 Special and Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 9, 2011 
 

 2 

Council recessed from 7:42 to 8:01 p.m. for a brief reception for the citizens of the year and the 
honorary citizens of the year. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:   
Mayor Harto called for public comments. 
 
Mike Heinisch, Executive Director of Kent Youth & Family Services, spoke in support of the 
King County Veterans and Human Services Levy. 
 
Donald Lachman, veteran and citizen of King County, spoke in support of the King County 
Veterans and Human Services Levy. 
 
Joel Estey, Regional Veterans Services Manager, King County Veterans and Community 
Services, spoke in support of the King County Veterans and Human Services Levy. 
 
Mike Graves, resident of Maple Valley and veteran, spoke in support of the King County 
Veterans and Human Services Levy. 
 
Leslie Hamada, 28026 189th Avenue SE, Kent, representing South King County Human 
Services Alliance, spoke in support of the King County Veterans and Human Services Levy. 
 
Chele Dimmett, Timberlane HOA, 26626 190th Avenue SE, reported on the 2nd Annual 
Timberlane Trash & Bash Community Cleanup and Block Party on Saturday, July 9, 2011. 
 
There being no further comments, Mayor Harto closed the public comment period. 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA: 
C-1. Approval of Minutes:  June 14, 2011 City Council Regular Meeting Minutes. 

 
C-2. Approval of Vouchers:  Vouchers #25517-25569, in the Amount of $357,070.81, Dated 

June 27, 2011; and Vouchers #25570-25570, in the Amount of $30.50, Dated June 30, 
2011. 
 

Council Action:  Councilmember Snoey moved and Councilmember Lanza seconded to 
approve the Consent Agenda.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
1.  Consider Appointments to Covington Economic Development Council. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Snoey moved and Councilmember Lucavish seconded to 
appoint Steven Pand to fill Position No. 2 on the Covington Economic Development 
Council with a term expiring July 31, 2013.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Lucavish moved and Councilmember Snoey seconded to 
appoint Ed Cook to fill Position No. 8 on the Covington Economic Development Council 
with a term expiring July 31, 2013.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 

7 of 171



Unapproved Draft – July 12, 2011 Special and Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  August 9, 2011 
 

 3 

 
2.  Consider Resolution Supporting King County Veterans and Human Services Levy. 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  11-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, STATING 
THE CITY COUNCIL’S SUPPORT OF KING COUNTY 
VETERANS AND HUMAN SERVICES LEVY ON THE 
AUGUST 16, 2011 PRIMARY ELECTION BALLOT. 

 
Council Action:  Councilmember Mhoon moved and Councilmember Snoey seconded to 
pass Resolution No. 11-05 stating the Covington City Council’s support of the King County 
Veterans and Human Services Levy renewal on the August 16, 2011 primary election 
ballot.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
3.  Street Light Funding Presentation. 
 
Public Works Director Glenn Akramoff gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Councilmembers provided comments and asked questions, and Mr. Akramoff provided 
responses. 
 
Council Action:  There was Council consensus to consider a resolution adopting a street 
lighting policy. 
 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS: 
Councilmembers and staff discussed Future Agenda Topics and made comments. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
Mayor Harto called for public comments. 
 
George Pearson, Mike Graves, Steve Pand, Joel Estey, and Chele Dimmett, thanked the 
Council for passing the resolution in support of the King County Veterans and Human Services 
Levy. 
 
There being no further comments, Mayor Harto closed the public comment period. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:45 p.m. 
 
Prepared by:      Submitted by:  
 
__________________________________         
Joan Michaud      Sharon Scott 
Deputy City Clerk     City Clerk 

8 of 171



 

Consent Agenda Item C-2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  August 9, 2011 
 
 
SUBJECT:  APROVAL OF VOUCHERS.  
 
RECOMMENDED BY: Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S)

 

:  Vouchers #25571-25648, in the Amount of $373,028.13, Dated July 13, 
2011; Vouchers #25649-25715, in the Amount of $255,199.67, Dated July 25, 2011; Paylocity 
Payroll Checks #1000058641-1000058651, Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits in the 
Amount of $141,835.63, Dated July 8, 2011; and Covington Check #1039, Paylocity Checks 
#1000073836-1000073858, Inclusive, Plus Employee Director Deposits, Nationwide 
Forefeiture Account in the Amount of $142,467.52, dated July 22, 2011. 

PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION: Not applicable. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Not applicable. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance _____ Resolution     X      Motion            Other  

 
Councilmember ___________ moves, Councilmember _________________ 
seconds, to approve for payment: Vouchers #25571-25648, in the Amount 
of $373,028.13, Dated July 13, 2011; Vouchers #25649-25715, in the 
Amount of $255,199.67, Dated July 25, 2011; Paylocity Payroll Checks 
#1000058641-1000058651, Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits in the 
Amount of $141,835.63, Dated July 8, 2011; and Covington Check #1039, 
Paylocity Checks #1000073836-1000073858, Inclusive, Plus Employee 
Director Deposits, Nationwide Forefeiture Account in the Amount of 
$142,467.52, dated July 22, 2011 . 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 of 171



10 of 171



11 of 171



12 of 171



13 of 171



14 of 171



15 of 171



16 of 171



17 of 171



18 of 171



19 of 171



20 of 171



21 of 171



22 of 171



23 of 171



24 of 171



25 of 171



26 of 171



27 of 171



28 of 171



29 of 171



30 of 171



31 of 171



32 of 171



 Consent Agenda Item C-3 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  August 9, 2011 
 
SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT FOR 

SERVICES WITH BEST PARKING LOT CLEANING FOR THE JOINT 
COVINGTON/MAPLE VALLEY STREET SWEEPING CONTRACT. 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Glenn Akramoff, Public Works Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  

1. Agreement for Services for Street Sweeping 
 
PREPARED BY:  Ross Junkin, Maintenance Supervisor 
 
EXPLANATION:  
The Public Works Department solicited bids from all the sweeping companies identified on the 
Municipal Research and Services Center (MRSC) Small Works Roster.  Three companies 
provided complete bids for the service.  The lowest bid is listed below. 
 
Schedule A:  City of Covington 

    
      Item 

No. Items of Work 
Bid 
Qty Units 

Unit 
Prices 

Total 
Amount 

A1 Downtown Streets 52 Each 490.00 25,480.00 
A2 Arterial Streets 25 Each 980.00 24,500.00 
A3 Residential Streets 4 Each 3,400.00 13,600.00 
A4 Emergency Response 1 Hour 82.00 N/A 
A5 Special Event Sweeps 3 Hour 82.00 N/A 

A6 Storm Clean-Up 1 
Cubic 
Yard 30.00 N/A 

Total 63,580.00 
Sales Tax 5,467.88 

Grand Total 69,047.88 
 

      
 
 
 

33 of 171



 
Schedule B:  City of Maple Valley 

   
      Item 

No. Items of Work 
Bid 
Qty Units 

Unit 
Prices 

Total 
Amount 

B1 Primary Streets 12 Each 1,216.00 14,592.00 
B2 Local Streets 4 Each 4,372.41 17,489.64 
B3 Emergency Response 1 Hour 82.00 N/A 
B4 Special Event Sweeps 1 Hour 82.00 N/A 

B5 Storm Clean-Up 1 
Cubic 
Yard 30.00 N/A 

Total 32,081.64 
Sales Tax 2,759.02 

Grand Total 34,840.66 

      Schedule A and Schedule B Grand Total 103,888.54 
 
Staff requests the City Council to award the 2011 Street Cleaning Agreement to the lowest, most 
qualified bidder, Best Parking Lot Cleaning, in the amount of $103,888.54 to sweep the streets of 
Covington and Maple Valley as outlined in the agreement.  The remaining funds will be used for 
discretionary items that include emergency cleaning after storms, callouts due to accidents, 
project specific cleanup, problem areas that need extra unplanned cleaning, street cleaning for 
community events (safety and aesthetic issues) and emergency spill cleanup in the street surfaces 
(oil, gasoline, diesel and other chemicals). 
 
The City of Covington will administer this contract for Covington as well as Maple Valley.  
Reimbursement requests will be provided to the City of Maple Valley for the sweeping done 
within their borders as well as administrative costs associated with overseeing this contract. 
 
Each city has a different schedule and frequency for sweeping their individual city which is 
outlined in the contract documents. 
 
This contract calls for renewal each year up to three years provided the contractor meets 
performance standards and both parties agree to the renewal. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Reject all bids and re-advertise the project for competitive bids later.   
 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
The Agreement for Services with Best Parking Lot Cleaning for Street Sweeping will not exceed 
$115,000. 
 
Approximately $27,000 is remaining in the 2011 Budget for street sweeping services.  We 
believe that will cover the Covington portion for mid August through December of 2011.  With 
the new billing procedures in the Joint Interlocal Agreement with Maple Valley we will bill 

34 of 171



Maple Valley for their portion including administrative fees.  Once we receive the payment that 
will be offset on the revenue side. 
 
The 2012 Budget amount requested for this activity is $115,000 (Surface Water Management 
Fund). 
 
The level of sweeping continues to lower the vactoring costs, reduce citizen complaints and 
provide a well maintained aesthetic downtown area.  
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:              Ordinance             Resolution      X      Motion            Other 
 

Councilmember ___________ moves, Councilmember _______________ 
seconds, to authorize the City Manager to execute an Agreement for 
Services with Best Parking Lot Cleaning for Street Sweeping. 

 
REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, City Attorney, Finance Director 

35 of 171



1 

 
CITY OF COVINGTON 

AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 
 
 

Between:  City of Covington and Best Parking Lot Cleaning Inc. 
Project:  Street Sweeping 
Commencing: August 15, 2011 
Terminating:  August 14, 2012 
Amount:  Not to Exceed $115,000 
 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES (“Agreement”) is entered into this ___ day of 
August, 2011, by and between the City of Covington (“City”), a Washington municipal 
corporation, and Best Parking Lot Cleaning Inc. (“Contractor”), a corporation. 
 
 RECITALS: 
 
 A. The City, in partnership with the City of Maple Valley (“Maple Valley”), seeks 
the temporary services of a skilled independent contractor capable of working without 
direct supervision to perform street sweeping services on behalf of the citizens of 
Covington and Maple Valley; and 
 
 B. The City has taken the lead administrative role of requesting bids for said 
services and has selected the Contractor to perform said services; and 
 

C. The Contractor has the requisite skill and experience necessary to provide 
said services; and 
 
 D. The purpose of this Agreement is to establish the terms and conditions 
under which the Contractor will perform said services. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and agreements set 
forth herein, the City and the Contractor do hereby agree as follows: 
 
 1. Engagement.  The City, acting pursuant to its vested authority, does hereby 
engage the Contractor and the Contractor does hereby agree to perform on behalf of the 
City the services more particularly described herein.   
 
 2. Scope of Services.  Upon written authorization from the City to proceed, the 
Contractor shall perform the services described on both Exhibit “A” and Exhibit “B”, 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (“Services”), in a manner 
consistent with the accepted practices for similar services, performed to the City’s 
satisfaction, within the time period prescribed by the City and pursuant to the direction of 
the City Manager or his or her designee.  In performing the Services, the Contractor shall 
comply with all federal, state and local laws and regulations, including, without limitation, 
all City codes, ordinances, resolutions, standards and policies, as now existing or 
hereafter adopted or amended, that may be applicable to its performance.  To the extent 
required by law, the Contractor and all subcontractors shall pay no less than the prevailing 
wage rate to employees performing work under this Agreement and shall submit a 

ATTACHMENT 1

36 of 171



“Statement of Intent to Pay Prevailing Wages” and an “Affidavit of Wages Paid” in 
compliance with RCW 39.12. 
 
 3. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement shall be in full force and effect for a 
period commencing upon execution and ending upon the completion of the Services, but 
in any event no later than August 14, 2012, unless earlier terminated under the provisions 
of this Agreement.  This Agreement may be extended for additional periods of time upon 
the mutual written agreement of the City and the Contractor.  Time is of the essence in 
each and every term of this Agreement.  
 
  3.1. This Agreement may be renewed each August for the succeeding two 
(2) years (2012 and 2013) upon performance audit and approval by the City.  The unit price 
of the Agreement shall be adjusted each year using the Seattle-Tacoma Consumer Price 
Index – Urban (CPI-W) rate starting with May of 2012 as the initial benchmark and the rate 
in May in subsequent years to be applied in August of that year.  
 

4. Compensation and Method of Payment.  Work for each City shall be invoiced 
separately to the City of Covington. 

 
  4.1 Compensation.  In consideration of the Contractor performing the 
Services, the City agrees to pay the Contractor an amount not to exceed $115,000. 
 
  4.2. Method of Payment.  Payment for Services shall be made after the 
Services have been satisfactorily performed, a voucher or invoice is submitted in a form 
acceptable to the City within thirty (30) days of performance of the Services, and the same 
is approved by the appropriate City representative.  Payment shall be made no later than 
ten (10) days after the City’s Council approval of the invoiced amount.   
 
  4.3 First Invoice.  Prior to or along with the first invoice submitted, the 
Contractor shall return to the City a completed “Request for Taxpayer Identification 
Number and Certification”, also known as IRS Form W-9. 
 
  4.4 Contractor Responsible for Taxes.  The Contractor shall be solely 
responsible for the payment of any taxes imposed by any lawful jurisdiction as a result of 
the performance and payment of this Agreement. 
 
 5. Warranty.  The Contractor warrants that it has the requisite training, skill and 
experience necessary to provide the Services and is appropriately accredited and licensed 
by all applicable agencies and governmental entities, including but not limited to being 
registered to do business in the City of Covington by obtaining a City of Covington 
business license.  The City of Maple Valley requires a Washington State business license.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the professional quality, technical adequacy and 
accuracy, timely completion and coordination of all plans, designs, drawings, 
specifications, reports and other services prepared or performed pursuant to this 
Agreement.  The Contractor shall perform its work in accordance with the requirements of 
this Agreement and pursuant to the standards of professional care, skill, diligence and 
competence as are normally exercised by other members and/or firms of the profession in 
good standing working under the same or similar conditions and circumstances and in 
similar communities as the services provided by the Contractor under this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the professional standards, performance and 
actions of all persons and firms performing work pursuant to this Agreement on behalf of 

37 of 171



the Contractor.  The City shall also have the right to deduct from payments to the 
Contractor any costs or damages incurred by the City, or which may be incurred by the 
City, as a result of the Contractor’s failure to comply with the requirements of the 
Agreement or failure to meet the professional standard of care and skill, or both. The 
City’s approval of plans, drawings, designs, specifications, reports and other products of 
the professional services rendered hereunder shall not in any way relieve the Contractor 
of responsibility for the technical adequacy or accuracy thereof.  Neither the City’s review, 
approval, acceptance of, and/or payment for any services shall be construed to operate as 
a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action arising out of the 
performance of this Agreement.   
 

6. Ownership and Use of Documents.  Any and all original and copies of 
records, reports, designs, files, documents, drawings, specifications, data or information, 
regardless of form or format, and all other materials prepared or produced by the 
Contractor in connection with the Services shall be the property of the City whether the 
project for which they were created is executed or not.  At the termination or cancellation 
of this Agreement, any and all such records or information remaining in the possession of 
the Contractor shall be delivered to the City.   
 
 7. Independent Contractor.  It is the intention and understanding of the City and 
the Contractor that the Contractor shall be an independent contractor and that the City 
shall be neither liable nor obligated to pay the Contractor sick leave, vacation pay or any 
other benefit of employment.  The Contractor shall pay all income and other taxes due.  
Industrial or any other insurance that is purchased for the benefit of the City, regardless of 
whether such may provide a secondary or incidental benefit to the Contractor, shall not be 
deemed to convert this Agreement to an employment contract.  The Contractor will be 
solely responsible for its acts and for the acts of its agents, employees, sub contractors or 
representatives during the performance of this Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement 
shall be considered to create the relation of employer and employee or principal and 
agent between the parties hereto.  The Contractor shall have the sole judgment of the 
means, mode or manner of the actual performance of this Agreement.  The Contractor, as 
an independent Contractor, assumes the entire responsibility for carrying out and 
accomplishing this Agreement. 
 
 8. Indemnification.  To the maximum extent permitted by law, Contractor shall 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Cities of Covington and Maple Valley and all of 
its officials, employees, principals and agents from all claims, demands, suits, actions, and 
liability of any kind, including injuries to persons or damages to property, which arise out 
of, are connected with, or are due to any errors, omissions or negligent acts of Contractor, 
its employees, agents, volunteers or representatives in performance of this Agreement; 
provided, however, that if (and only if) the provisions of RCW 4.24.115 apply to the work 
and services under this Agreement and any such damages and injuries to persons or 
property are caused by or result from the concurrent negligence of Contractor, its 
employees, agents, volunteers or representatives and the City or its employees, agents, or 
representatives, the indemnification applies only to the extent of the negligence of 
Contractor, its employees, volunteers, agents, or representatives.  In the event of any 
such claims, demands, suits, actions, and lawsuits, Contractor shall assume all costs of 
defense thereof, including administrative and legal fees incurred by the City, and of all 
resulting judgments that may be obtained against the City or any of its officers, principals, 
agents, or employees.  If resulting there from, any lien is placed upon property of the City 
or any of its officers, principals, agents, or employees, Contractor shall at once cause the 

38 of 171



same to be dissolved and discharged by giving bond or otherwise.  Contractor specifically 
assumes potential liability for actions brought by Contractor’s own employees against the 
City and for that purpose Contractor specifically waives, as respects the City only, any 
immunity under the Worker's Compensation Act, RCW Title 51; and Contractor 
recognizes that this waiver was the subject of mutual negotiation and specifically entered 
into pursuant to the provision of RCW 4.24.115, if applicable. In the event either party 
incurs attorney's fees, costs or other legal expenses to enforce the provisions of this 
section against the other party, all such fees, costs and expenses shall be recoverable by 
the prevailing party. 
 
 The provisions of this Section shall survive any expiration or termination of this 
Agreement. 
 

9. Insurance.  The Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the 
Agreement insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which 
may arise from or in connection with the performance of work hereunder by the 
Contractor, its agents, representatives or employees.  Contractor’s maintenance of 
insurance as required by the agreement shall not be construed to limit the liability of the 
Contractor to the coverage provided by such insurance, or otherwise limit the Cities of 
Covington’s and Maple Valley’s recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity. The 
Contractor shall at a minimum obtain and carry the following insurance in such forms and 
with such carriers who have a rating satisfactory to the City:  
 

9.1 Workers' compensation and employer's liability insurance in amounts 
sufficient pursuant to the laws of the State of Washington;  

 
9.2 Commercial general liability insurance covering liability arising from 

premises, operations, independent contractors, personal injury and advertising injury and 
written on ISO occurrence form CG 00 01 with combined single limits of liability not less 
than $1,000,000 each occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate for bodily injury, 
including personal injury or death, products liability and property damage.  

 
9.3 Automobile liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned, hired 

and leased vehicles and written on Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 00 01 or a 
substitute form providing equivalent liability coverage with combined single limits of liability 
not less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury, including personal injury or death 
and property damage.  If necessary, the policy shall be endorsed to provide contractual 
liability coverage.   
 

The Cities of Covington and Maple Valley shall be named as additional insured on 
all such insurance policies, with the exception of workers' compensation coverage(s) if the 
Contractor participates in a state-run workers’ comp program.  The Contractor shall 
provide original certificates of insurance and a copy of the amendatory endorsement, 
concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, evidencing such coverage and, at City's 
request, furnish the City with copies of all insurance policies and with evidence of payment 
of premiums or fees of such policies.  Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a 
current A.M. Best rating of not less than A:VII. All insurance policies shall contain a clause 
of endorsement providing that they may not be terminated or materially amended during 
the Term of this Agreement, except after thirty (30) days prior written notice to the City.  If 
the Contractor's insurance policies are "claims made," the Contractor shall be required to 
maintain tail coverage for a minimum period of three (3) years from the date this 

39 of 171



Agreement is actually terminated or upon project completion and acceptance by the City.  
The Contractor's failure to maintain such insurance policies shall be grounds for the City's 
immediate termination of this Agreement. 
 

The provisions of this Section shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Agreement with respect to any event occurring prior to such expiration or termination. 
 

10. Books and Records.  The Contractor agrees to maintain books, records, and 
documents which sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and indirect costs related to the 
performance of the Services and maintain such accounting procedures and practices as 
may be deemed necessary by the City to assure proper accounting of all funds paid 
pursuant to this Agreement.  These records shall be subject, at all reasonable times, to 
inspection, review or audit by the City, its authorized representative, the State Auditor, or 
other governmental officials authorized by law to monitor this Agreement. 
 
 11. Termination.   
 
  11.1 Prior to the expiration of the Term, this Agreement may be terminated 
immediately, with or without cause, by the City.  The Contractor may terminate this 
Agreement upon sixty (60) days notice to the City.  In the event of termination or 
suspension, all finished or unfinished documents, data, studies, worksheets, models, 
reports or other materials prepared by the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
submitted to the City within five (5) days of the date of termination. 
 
  11.2 In the event this Agreement is terminated or suspended, the 
Contractor shall be entitled to payment for all services satisfactorily performed and 
reimbursable expenses incurred to the date of termination. 
 
  11.3 This provision shall not prevent the City from seeking any legal 
remedies it may otherwise have for the violation, default, or nonperformance of any 
provision of this Agreement.  The remedies provided in this paragraph shall be in addition 
to any other remedy the City may have at law or in equity. 
 

12. Discrimination.  In all Contractor services, programs or activities, and all 
Contractor hiring and employment made possible by or resulting from this Agreement, 
there shall be no discrimination by the Contractor or by the Contractor's employees, 
agents, subcontractors or representatives against any person because of sex, age (except 
minimum age and retirement provisions), race, color, creed, national origin, marital status 
or the presence of any disability, including sensory, mental or physical handicaps, unless 
based upon a bona fide occupational qualification in relationship to hiring and 
employment.  This requirement shall apply, but not be limited to the following:  
employment, advertising, layoff or termination, rates of pay or other forms of 
compensation, and selection for training, including apprenticeship.  The Contractor shall 
not violate any of the terms of Chapter 49.60 RCW, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964, the Americans With Disabilities Act, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 or 
any other applicable federal, state or local law or regulation regarding non-discrimination. 
Any material violation of this provision shall be grounds for termination of this Agreement 
by the City and, in the case of the Contractor's breach, may result in ineligibility for further 
City agreements.   
 
 

40 of 171



 13. Assignment and Subcontract.  The Contractor shall not assign or transfer 
any interest in this Agreement or subcontract any portion of the services contemplated 
hereunder without the prior written consent of the City. 
 
 14. Conflict of Interest.  The Contractor represents to the City that it has no 
conflict of interest in performing any of the services described herein.  It is recognized that 
the Contractor may or will be performing services during the Term for other parties; 
provided, however that such performance of other services shall not conflict with or 
interfere with the Contractor’s ability to perform the Services.  In the event that the 
Contractor is asked to perform services for a project with which it may have a conflict, the 
Contractor shall immediately disclose such potential conflict to the City.  The Contractor 
agrees to resolve any actual conflicts of interest in favor of the City. 
 
 15. Non-appropriation of Funds.  If sufficient funds are not appropriated or 
allocated for payment under this Agreement for any future fiscal period, the City will so 
notify the Contractor and shall not be obligated to make payments for services or amounts 
incurred after the end of the City’s current fiscal period.  This Agreement shall terminate 
upon the completion of all remaining services for which funds are allocated.  No penalty or 
expense shall accrue to the City in the event that the terms of this provision are 
effectuated. 
 
 16. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including the exhibits attached hereto, 
constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter of 
this Agreement.  There are no promises, terms, conditions or obligations other than those 
contained herein, and this Agreement shall supersede all previous communications, 
negotiations, representations or agreements, either verbal or written, between the parties 
hereto concerning the subject matter of this Agreement. 
 
 17. Amendment.  This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by 
writing signed by all parties hereto.   
 
 18. No Waiver.  Failure or delay of the City to declare any breach or default 
immediately upon occurrence shall not waive such breach or default.  Failure of the City to 
declare one breach or default does not act as a waiver of the City's right to declare 
another breach or default. 
 
 19. Successors.  Subject to the provisions of paragraph 13 above, this 
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties, their respective 
heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives, successors and assigns. 
 
 20. Severability.  Each and every provision of this Agreement shall be deemed 
to be severable.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this 
Agreement shall not affect the other provisions hereof, and the Agreement shall be 
construed in all respects as if such invalid or unenforceable provision were not a part of 
this Agreement.  
 
 21. Notices.  All notices, payments and other communications hereunder shall 
be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if personally delivered or 
mailed, by first class or certified mail, with postage prepaid, 
 
 

41 of 171



  if to the Contractor, to: 
 

Best Parking Lot Cleaning Inc. 
   Attn:  Rich Hamilton 
   P.O. Box 159 
   Sumner, WA  98390 
 
or to such other person or place as the Contractor shall furnish to the City in writing; and 
 

if to the City, to: 
 

   City of Covington 
   Attn:  Maintenance Supervisor 
   16720 SE 271st Street, Suite100 
   Covington, WA  98042 
 
or to such other person or place as the City shall furnish to the Contractor in writing. 
 

Notices and payments shall be deemed given upon personal delivery or, if mailed, 
upon the earlier of actual receipt or three (3) business days after the date of mailing. 
 
 22. Governing Law; Venue.  This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Washington. The venue for any cause of action arising out of 
this Agreement shall be King County, Washington. 
 
 23. Attorney’s Fees.  In the event of any default under this Agreement, the 
substantially defaulting party agrees to pay the substantially non-defaulting party’s 
reasonable expenses which the latter incurs by reason thereof, including but not limited to 
reasonable attorney’s fees, whether with respect to the investigation of such default or the 
determination of the application or the pursuit of remedies with respect thereto, or in legal 
proceedings, or otherwise.  The term “legal proceedings” as used in this paragraph shall 
include all litigation, arbitration, administrative, bankruptcy and judicial proceedings, 
including appeals therefrom. 
 
 24. Survival of Representations.  The representations and warranties of the City 
and the Contractor contained hereto shall survive indefinitely. 
 
 25. Independent Counsel.  The Contractor acknowledges that the drafter of this 
Agreement is the City’s legal representative to whom the Contractor does not look to for 
any legal counseling or legal advice with regard to this transaction.  The Contractor further 
acknowledges that it has been advised to consult with independent legal counsel and has 
had an opportunity to do so.  By signing this Agreement, the Contractor acknowledges 
that it has consulted with independent legal counsel of its choice or has knowingly waived 
the right to do so.  There shall be no presumption of draftsmanship in favor of or implied 
against any party hereto. 
 

26. Authority.  Each individual executing this Agreement on behalf of the City 
and the Contractor represents and warrants that such individuals are duly authorized to 
execute and deliver this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor or the City.  

 
 

42 of 171



 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the 

day and year written above. 
 
CITY OF COVINGTON 
 
 
____________________________________ 
By: Derek Matheson 
Its: City Manager 
 
 
Attest:       Approved as to form: 
 
 
_________________________   __________________________ 
Sharon Scott, City Clerk    Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 
 
BEST PARKING LOT CLEANING INC. 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
By: Rich Hamilton 
Its: Owner 
 
 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 

) ss. 
COUNTY OF ____________) 
 
On this day personally appeared before me ______________________, to me known to 
be the _________________________________________________________ of 
_____________________________________that executed the foregoing instrument, and 
acknowledged the said instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said 
corporation, for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and on oath stated that he/she 
was authorized to execute said instrument and that the seal affixed, if any, is the 
corporate seal of said corporation. 
 

GIVEN my hand and official seal this ___ day of _________________, 2011. 
 

_____________________________________ 
_____________________________________ 
     (typed/printed name of notary) 
Notary Public in and for the State of Washington. 
My commission expires__________________ 

43 of 171



EXHIBIT A 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
WITHIN THE CITY OF COVINGTON 

 
The Contractor agrees to provide street sweeping services, curb to curb (or to edge of 
pavement), during this contract as follows (see Exhibit A1 for locations): 
 
1. Downtown Streets 

• January – December (52) Once every week (nights) 
• Prior to Community Events (3) July, October, and December  

 
2. Arterial Streets 

• January – April  Once every other week  
• May – August  Once per month 
• September – October  Once every other week  
• November – December  Weekly 

 
3. Residential Streets 

• Sweep all 4 maintenance zones January, April, September, December 
(Quarterly) 

 
4. Emergency Response 

• Storm cleanup which includes sweeping sand after snow and ice events and wind 
storm cleanup (must be cleaned within 30 days of end of event). 

• Callout response which includes accidents and/or spill cleanup (must be within 1 
hour). 

• Response to specific requests as transmitted by the City. 
 
5. Contractor will provide monthly verification of proper disposal of spoils with each 

invoice submitted 
 
6. Contractor will notify the City of Covington Maintenance Supervisor in advance of 

work schedules. 
 
7. Contractor will provide a weekly log to the City of Covington Maintenance 

Supervisor via email or fax indicating completed work. 
 
 
Note:  The contractor is responsible for proper disposals of all sweepings.  No storage on 
City of Covington or City of Maple Valley property is available.

44 of 171



SR 18

SE 256TH ST

RAMP

18
0T

H 
AV

E S
E

SE 272ND ST

16
4T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE WAX RD

SE 240TH ST

15
6T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 261ST ST

20
4T

H A
VE

 S
E

SE 251ST ST

156TH PL SE

COVINGTON WAY SE

17
0T

H 
PL

 SE

160TH AVE SE

SE 279TH PL

SE 267TH ST

19
7T

H 
PL

 SE

17
2N

D 
AV

E S
E

SE 262ND PL

SE 267TH PL
TIMBERLANE WAY SE

19
1S

T P
L S

E

194
TH

 AV
E S

E

20
0T

H A
VE

 S
E

SE 270TH PL

17
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

19
9T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 244TH ST

16
1S

T 
PL

 S
E

19
3R

D 
PL

 S
E

SE 271ST ST

SE 265TH ST

SE 266TH PL

SE 244TH PL

SE 277TH PL

FRONTAGE RD

21
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE17

2N
D 

PL
 S

E

SE 262ND ST

17
0T

H A
VE

 S
E

15
2N

D 
AV

E S
E

SE 246TH ST

17
7T

H 
PL

 S
E

16
8T

H 
PL

 SE

16
6T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 259TH  ST

SE 260TH ST

SE 268TH ST

18
5T

H P
L S

E

186TH PL SE

15
1S

T P
L 

SE

SE 269TH ST

20
1S

T A
VE

 S
E

TIM
BERLANE DR SE

18
4T

H 
AV

E 
SE

16
7T

H 
PL

 S
E

16
1S

T A
VE

 S
E

16
9T

H 
PL

 SE

18
3R

D 
AV

E S
E

17
5T

H 
WA

Y S
E

SE 270TH ST

SE 247TH ST

199
TH

 AV
E S

E

SE 257TH ST

17
9T

H 
PL

 S
E

17
6T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 264TH ST

170TH WAY SE

17
6T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 260TH PL

17
1S

T A
VE

 SE

17
5T

H 
AV

E 
SE

1 66 TH AVE SE

16
8T

H A
VE

 S
E

159TH AVE SE

15
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE
 18

4T
H 

PL

SE 259TH PL

18
3R

D 
PL

 S
E

17
1S

T P
L S

E

19
5T

H 
PL

 SE

19
2N

D 
PL

 S
E

16
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 249TH PL

SE 253RD PL

18
4T

H P
L S

E

188TH AVE SE

SE 266TH ST

187TH AVE SE

SE
 26

3R
D PL

19
2N

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 258TH ST

19
6T

H A
VE

 S
E

SE 268TH PL

16
7T

H A
VE

 S
E

17
8T

H 
PL

 S
E

20
3R

D 
AV

E S
E

15
0T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 254TH PL

21
1T

H 
AV

E 
SE

16
5T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 256TH PL

189TH AVE SE

17
5TH PL SE

159TH PL SE

18
1S

T P
L S

E

20
8T

H 
AV

E 
SE

16
2N

D A
VE

 SE

19
7T

H 
AV

E 
SE

185TH LOOP SE

17
4T

H 
PL

 SE

18
6T

H A
VE

 S
E

SE 263RD ST

18
5T

H A
VE

 S
E

21
2T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 257TH PL

19
6T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 254TH ST

SE 245TH PL

SE 246TH PL

19
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 247TH PL

SE TIMBERLANE BLVD

SE 241ST PL

SE 261ST CT

20
2N

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 261ST PL

19
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 243RD ST

19
0T

H 
PL

 SE

SE 252ND PL

20
6T

H 
AV

E 
SE

15
7T

H 
PL

 S
E

16
0T

H 
PL

 S
E

15
5T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 269TH  PL

SE 248TH PL

SE 264TH PL

SE 263RD CT

SE 280TH PL

SE 275TH ST

SE 265TH PL

SE 255TH PL

SE 251ST PL

183RD CT SE

18
9T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 27 8TH PL

15
8T

H 
PL

 S
E

18
7T

H 
PL S

E

20
1S

T 
PL

 S
E

SE 271ST CT

SE 258TH PL

186TH CT SE

19
8T

H 
AV

E S
E

SE 255TH ST

15
7T

H 
AV

E S
E

162
ND

 PL
 SE

20
9T

H 
AV

E S
E

SE 2 42 ND S T

SE 24 1ST ST

1 63RD PL SE

15
8T

H  
AV

E 
SE

20
1S

T C
T S

E

SE 268TH C T

18
0T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 270TH CT

19
3R

D 
CT

 SE

187TH CT SE

SE 271ST PL

19
8T

H 
CT

 S
E

SE  277TH ST

SE 2 44TH LN

60
TH

 P
L 

SE

SE 252ND CT

SE 245TH  CT

16
2N

D 
AV

E 
SE

20
1S

T 
PL

 S
E

SE 270TH PL

16
5T

H 
PL

 SE

SE 264TH ST

SE WAX RD

18
0T

H A
VE

 S
E

SE 260TH PL

191ST PL SE

19
0T

H 
PL

 S
E

17
6T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 261ST CT

16
8T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 261ST  ST

17
6T

H 
AV

E S
E

SE 260TH PL

201ST AVE SE

SE 251ST PL

20
9T

H 
AV

E 
SE

18
4T

H 
PL

 S
E

19
5T

H P
L S

E

SE 258TH ST

SE 262ND PL

18
9T

H 
AV

E S
E

SE 262ND ST

19
2N

D A
VE

 SE

SE 271ST ST

SE 266TH ST

SE 264TH ST

19
4T

H  
AV

E 
SE

SE 260TH ST

SE 268TH ST

SE 253RD PL

SE 263RD ST SE 264TH ST

16
1S

T A
VE

 S
E

SE 260TH ST

SE 266TH ST

SE 262ND ST
SE 262ND ST

SE 265TH ST

188TH AVE SE

15
6T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 269TH ST

SE 267TH ST

SE 254TH ST

SR 18

18
4T

H A
VE

 S
E

SE 2 6 0TH  ST

SE 27 1 ST CT

SE 266TH ST
SE 266TH PL

SE 267TH PL

SE 268TH ST

SE 259TH PL

SE 259TH ST

SE 270TH ST

SE 257TH ST

SE 271 ST S T

166
TH AVE SE

SE 264TH ST

15
7T

H 
AV

E 
SE SE 259TH PL

21
1T

H 
AV

E S
E

SE 260TH ST

SE 279TH PL

SE 263RD ST

SE 269TH ST

18
5T

H 
PL

 S
E

183RD PL SE

SE 2 65 TH ST

18
9T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 258TH STSE 258TH ST

SE 259TH PL

19
5T

H  
PL

 SE

SE 260TH ST

20
6T

H 
AV

E 
SE

19
6T

H A
VE

 SE

SE 268TH ST

SE 262ND ST

SE 261ST PL

SE 267TH PL

18
8T

H 
AV

E 
SE

163
RD A

VE
 SE

160TH PL SE

SE 261ST ST

17
6T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 267TH ST

18
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

SE 262ND PL

SE 264TH ST

SE 269TH ST

RAMP

SE 262ND PL

SE 267TH PL
SE 268TH ST

16
8T

H A
VE

 SE

16
8T

H 
PL

 S
E

17
5T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 258TH ST

SE 252ND PL

19
3R

D 
PL

 S
E

SE 263RD PLSE 263RD PL

SE 262ND ST

SE 244TH PL

SE  261S T PL

SE 243RD ST

16
0T

H A
VE

 S
E

186TH PL SE

SE 263RD PL

161ST PL SE

SE  257TH S T

SE 254TH PL

18
5T

H 
PL

 SE

18
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

172ND AVE SE

SE 267TH PL

SE 268TH ST

SE 260TH  PL

168TH PL SE

19
2N

D 
PL

 SE

SE 268TH ST

SE 270TH ST

20
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

20
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

S E 250TH PL

16
9T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE 26 5TH PL

18
9T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 250TH CT

17
4T

H 
AV

E 
SE

16
3R

D 
P L

 S
E

SE 264TH CT

SE 259TH CT

SE 26 0TH  C T

16
4T

H 
PL

 S
E

198TH  PL S E

SE  265T H  C T

SE 263RD ST

SE 252ND PL

16
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

16
6T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 269TH ST

SE 2 63RD  PL

174TH PL S E

SE 263RD ST

166
TH

 PL S
E

185TH AVE SE

SE 261ST CT

SE 26 6TH  S T

SE 261ST PL

SE 251ST ST

SE TIMBERLANE BLVD

SE 264TH PL

16
7T

H A
VE

 SE

SE 260TH ST

SE 264TH PL

20
0T

H 
AV

E 
SE

16
7T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 266TH PL

18
0T

H 
AV

E S
E

SE WAX RD

SE 272ND ST

168th PL SE

165th PL SE

SE 270TH PL

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Covington 

This map is intended for 
planning purposes only. 

Information was compiled 
from the most accurate 

sources generally available.
Created By: Shawn Buck 04/25/11

Sweeping Routes Map

.

O:\WorkSpace\projects\0006\SweepRoutes.mxd

1 inch = 1,500 feet

Zone One = 19 Centerline Miles

Zone Two = 13 Centerline Miles

Zone Three = 12 Centerline Miles

Zone Four = 22.5 Centerline Miles

Artieral Streets

Downtown Streets

City Limits

Maintenance Zones
14 Centerline Miles

7.8 Centerline Miles

EXHIBIT A1

45 of 171



EXHIBIT B 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
WITHIN THE CITY OF MAPLE VALLEY 

 
The Contractor agrees to provide street sweeping services, curb to curb (or to edge of 
pavement), during this contract as follows (see Exhibit B1 for locations): 
 
1. Primary Streets 

• Once per month  
• Prior to Community Events (1) June, MV Days (see Exhibit B2) 

 
2. Local Streets 

• Quarterly  
 
3. Emergency Response 

• Storm cleanup which includes sweeping sand after snow and ice events and wind 
storm cleanup (must be cleaned within 30 days of end of event). 

• Callout response which includes accidents and/or spill cleanup (must be within 1 
hour). 

• Response to specific requests as transmitted by the City. 
 
5. Contractor will provide monthly verification of proper disposal of spoils with each 

invoice submitted. 
 
6. Contractor will notify the City of Covington Maintenance Supervisor in advance of 

work schedules. 
 
7. Contractor will provide a weekly log to the City of Covington Maintenance 

Supervisor via email or fax indicating completed work. 
 
 
Note:  The contractor is responsible for proper disposals of all sweepings.  No storage on 
City of Covington or City of Maple Valley property is available. 

46 of 171



SE 280TH  ST

21
0T

H 
AV

E  
SE

SE 260TH  ST

SE 248TH  ST

21
2T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE WA X R D

SE
 2

71
ST

 P
L

226TH  PL SE

20
8T

H 
AV

E  
SE

SE 262ND  ST

SE 258TH  ST

SE 264TH  ST

220TH  AVE  SE

23
2N

D  
AV

E 
SE

22
4T

H  
AV

E  
SE

23
8T

H  
AV

E  
SE

SE 259TH  ST

SE 252ND  PL

SE 269TH  ST

SE 231ST ST

SE 254TH  PL

SE 253RD  PL

23
9T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 236TH  PL

SE LA K E W IL DER NESS DR  S

SE 244TH  ST

23
6T

H 
AV

E  
SE

24
2N

D  
PL

 S
E

SE 285TH  ST

21
5T

H 
CT

 S
E

23
0T

H  
AV

E  
SE

SE 276TH  ST

237TH  PL SE

SE 240TH  ST

SE 254TH  ST

21
8T

H 
PL

 S
E

SE 256TH  ST

SE 253RD  PL

MAPLE VALLEY-BLACK  DIAM
OND RD  SE

WI TTE RD  SE

W
IT

TE
 R

D  
SE

SE WAX RD

SE 260TH  ST SE 260TH  ST

SE 253RD  PL

SE 271ST PL

WITT
E RD  SE

W
IT

TE
 R

D  
SE

SE WAX RD

W
IT

TE
 R

D  
SE

WI TTE RD  SE

SE 276TH  ST

WITTE RD  SE

22
4T

H 
AV

E  
SE

SE  25 6 TH  P L

21
4T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE  2 5 8 T H S T

SE 258TH  ST

SE K ENT-K AN GLEY R D

222N D  PL  S E

22
2N

D
 A

V
E 

SE

21 4 T
H

 AV
E

 S
E

21 3TH 
P

L 
SE

216TH 
AV

E 
SE

SE  2 7 1 S T  PL

SE  2 6 8 TH  ST

SE  2 6 7 TH  ST

SE  2 6 6 TH  PL

21
8T

H
 A

V
E

 S
E

SE  2 7 0 TH  ST

SE  2 6 9 TH  ST

22
0T

H
 P

L 
SE

22
0 T

H
 A

V
E

 S
E

22
0 T

H
 P

L  
SE

SE 2 6 4TH  ST

SE  2 6 6 TH  ST

S E  2

65 TH W
AY

21
6T

H  
AV

E  
SE

21
4T

H
 A

V
E

 S
E

21 4 T H  AV E  S E

21
6T

H  
AV

E  
SE

21
7T

H  
AV

E  
SE

W IT TE
 R

D 
S E

2 20 TH  PL  S E

SE 272ND  ST

S E  2 7 9 T
H  

ST

22
8T

H 
A V

E
 S

E22
4T

H
 P

L  
SE

SE  2 8 6 TH  ST

SE  2 8 7 TH S T

SE  2 8 4 TH  ST

M APL E R ID GE WAY SE

SE  MAPLE R IDG E D R

S E 2 7 4 T H  P L

25
5T

H  
AV

E  
SE

SE  2 7 7 TH  PL

SE  2 8 1 S T  ST

SE 283RD  ST

23
1

ST
 P

L 
S

E

23
0T

H
 A

V
E

 S
E

SE 280TH  ST

23
4T

H
 A

V
E

 S
E

SE  2 8 2 N D  P L

SE  2 8 1 S T  ST

MA
PL

E 
VA

LL
EY

-B
LA

CK
 D

IA
M

ON
D 

RD
 S

E

23
6T

H
 P

L  
SE

SE  2 7 6 TH  ST

23
3R

D  
A V

E 
S E

SE 2 82 N D ST

SE  283 R D  S T

SE 2 8 0 TH PL

SE  2 7 9 TH  ST

22
8T

H 
AV

E  
SE

2 3 4 TH  P L  SE

S E  26 4TH  S T

SE  2 63 RD S T

23
2N

D
 P

L  
SE

23
4T

H 
AV

E 
SE

SE  267TH P L

22
8T

H 
AV

E 
S E

228TH AVE SE

SE 272ND  ST

SE  2 6 8T H PL

SE  269T H S T

SE 2 64 T H PL

22
6T

H
 A

V
E 

S
E

22
7 T

H
 P

L  
SE

SE  2 77 T H ST

SE 27 8T H WAY

SE  280T H S T

SE  2 7 3 R D  PL

SE 26 7T H  PL

SE 2 61 ST P L

SE 2 6 2N D P L

S E  26 4T H  S T

SE 2 4 0TH BLV D

SE  25 0TH ST

237TH AV E S E

SE 2 48 TH S T

SE 2 47 TH  C T

S E  2 45 TH  S T

S E  2 43R D P L

SE 2 4 3 RD  S T

237T H W AY  SE

23
5T

H 
AV

E  
SE

23
1S

T 
PL

 S
E

SE  2 4 0 TH WAY

SE 2 42 ND  ST

SE  2 39 TH  S T

SE  241S T  P L

SE  2 4 7 TH  ST

235T H WAY  S E

23
3R

D 
AV

E 
SE

23
2N

D 
AV

E  
S E

22
8T

H
 A

VE
 S

E SE 244TH  STSE 24 4T H ST

230TH WAY S E

5
1

3
2

4

Maple Valley Street Sweeping Routes 2011 Legend
primary streets

local streets
private areas
(do no sweep)

EXHIBIT B1

47 of 171



SE 248TH ST

228TH
 AVE

 SE

SE 240TH BLVD

SE 244TH PL

MAPLE VALLEY-BLACK DIAMOND RD SE

SE 240TH WAY

22
4T

H
 A

V
E

 S
E

SE 237TH ST

SE 249TH PL

SE 243RD ST

SE 250TH ST

E LAKE W
ILDERNESS DR SE

SE 244TH ST

SE 242ND ST

22
4T

H
 A

V
E

 S
E

22
4T

H AV
E S

E

SE 236TH PL

SE 237TH ST

#*
#*

#*
#*

IA

PARADE
ROUTE

'()*

'()*

MAPLE VALLEY DAYS
Carnival Area

Lake
Wilderness

Park

#*

#*
#*

#*
#*

Parade Starts Here

CHECK-IN

_̂
Lake Wilderness 

Elemenatry

Route to Staging Area
for

Trucks, Tractors, Floats
(ie. Any Large Vehicles)

Staging Area

Staging Area

W
itt

e 
R

d 
S

E

Route to Staging Area
for

Small Vehicles & Pedestrians

#* #* #*
#*

Park Entrance

#*

#*
#*

Route to Park

Maple Valley Days Parade Route

Lake 
Wilderness

AOR#1

AOR#7

AOR#6

AOR#8

AOR#5

AOR#2AOR#3

AOR#4

SE 254PL/Witte Rd SE

EXHIBIT B2

48 of 171



Consent Agenda Item C-4  
Covington City Council Meeting 

Date: August 9, 2011 
 

SUBJECT:  PROPOSED RESOLUTION APPROVING FINAL PLAT OF CORNERSTONE 
LU06-0017/2098 FOR RECORDING.  

  
RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
 Salina Lyons, Senior Planner 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 
1. Final Plat Maps (reduced). 
2. Mitigated Determination of Non-Significance dated August 8, 2007 
3. Preliminary Plat Hearing Examiner Findings, Conclusions and Decision dated October 27, 

2009 
4. Proposed Resolution  
 
PREPARED BY: Salina Lyons, Senior Planner 
 
EXPLANATION: 
Overview 
DR Horton (Developer) has requested approval of the Final Plat of Cornerstone (City File No. 
LU06-0017/2098) to subdivide 17.52 acres into 104 single family residential lots).  The property 
is located at 19500 SE 272nd St. The site lies within the SE ¼ of Section 30, Township 26N, 
Range 6E, and consists of Parcel Number 3022069016.  Reduced copies of the Final Plat maps 
are attached (Exhibit 1).  The site contains no environmentally critical areas.  
 
The City of Covington received a preliminary plat application, submitted by DR Horton on May 
26, 2006. The application was deemed complete for vesting purposes on June 15, 2006.  The 
City issued a Mitigated Determination of Non-Significance (MDNS) for the preliminary plat on 
August 8, 2007.  A copy of the MDNS is attached (Exhibit 2).  
 
The City of Covington Hearing Examiner held an open record public hearing on the proposal on 
September 17, 2009.  The Examiner approved the plat subject to 61 conditions as noted in the 
Examiner’s Report dated October 27, 2009.  A copy of the Examiner’s Findings, Conclusions 
and Decision is attached (Exhibit 3).  The clearing and grading permit and Notice to Proceed for 
construction of the site improvements was issued on July 15, 2010.  Site Improvements were 
completed by JR Hayes in July 2011.  
 
Site Improvements 
The site is accessed via SE 272nd St.  The entrance was designed as a collector arterial to provide 
for additional capacity since this is the main and only access to the development for the 
residences. Emergency access will be provided via SE 267th St, through the Timberlane 
Development.  
 
Stormwater will be collected and treated via a drainage facility located on the western portion of 
the property.  Water quality is accomplished through the use of bio-infiltration swales. The 
treated stormwater is directed to infiltration areas which discharge into surrounding soils.  After 

49 of 171



the two year maintenance of the stormwater facilities is completed by the developer, the City will 
be responsible for the maintenance of the public stormwater system. 
 
The Developer is providing 63,729 sq. ft. of recreation space to be owned and maintained by the 
Cornerstone Association.   
 
Financial Guarantees 
City Staff has inspected the plat improvements constructed by JR Hayes.  The improvements 
have been completed in conformance with the approved engineering plans. Any required 
improvements that have not yet been completed have been secured by an acceptable financial 
guarantee. No building permits will be issued for the individual lots until all water and sewer 
utilities have been inspected and approved by Covington Water District and Soos Creek Water 
and Sewer District.  
 
Staff Recommendation 
City Staff has reviewed the plat development final engineering plans filed by the Developer for 
conformance with applicable City of Covington engineering standards, for conformance with the 
SEPA MDNS Threshold Determination, and for conformance with other applicable local and 
state laws and regulations.  Staff has approved these drawings.   
 
Staff recommends approval of the Final Plat of Cornerstone, City File No. LU06-0017/2098, for 
recording.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
1. Request additional information from staff. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
Approval and recording of the final plat will have no direct fiscal impact. Subsequent single-
family residential building permit applications in the plat will generate revenue for the City for 
required expenditure of Staff resources for building plan review and building construction 
inspection. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  _____Ordinance       X     Resolution  _____Motion   _____Other 
 

Councilmember _____________ moves, and Councilmember ____________ 
seconds to pass a Resolution approving the Final Plat of Cornerstone, City 
File No. LU06-0017/2059 for recording. 
 

REVIEWED BY:   Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
   Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 

Sara Springer, City Attorney 
    

50 of 171



ATTACHMENT 1

51 of 171



52 of 171



53 of 171



54 of 171



55 of 171



56 of 171



ATTACHMENT 2

57 of 171



58 of 171



59 of 171



ATTACHMENT 3

60 of 171



61 of 171



62 of 171



63 of 171



64 of 171



65 of 171



66 of 171



67 of 171



68 of 171



69 of 171



70 of 171



71 of 171



72 of 171



73 of 171



74 of 171



75 of 171



76 of 171



77 of 171



78 of 171



79 of 171



RESOLUTION NO. 11-06 
 
 

 A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 
APPROVING THE FINAL PLAT OF CORNERSTONE 
LU06-0017/2098 FOR RECORDING.  

  
WHEREAS, an application has been received by the City under Application No. 

LU06-0017/2098 for the final plat of Cornerstone; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Covington issued a Mitigated Determination of Non-

Significance (MDNS) for the preliminary plat on August 8, 2007, and  

 

WHEREAS, the preliminary plat has been reviewed by the City of Covington 

Hearing Examiner, who held an open record public hearing on the proposal on September 

17, 2009; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Hearing Examiner issued a decision on October 27, 2009, 

recommending approval of the preliminary plat with conditions; and 

 

WHEREAS, City staff has reviewed the engineering plans for plat development 

filed by the Developer, has found that these engineering plans substantially conform with 

applicable local and state laws, codes, and regulations, and with the preliminary plat 

conditions of approval, and therefore has approved these plans for construction; and  

 

WHEREAS, City staff has inspected the plat improvements constructed by the 

Developer, and finds that these improvements have been substantially completed in 

conformance with the approved engineering plans, or that the Developer has financially 

assured the completion of such improvements; now, therefore  

 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Covington, King County, 

Washington, as follows: 

 

ATTACHMENT 4

80 of 171



Section 1.  The City of Covington hereby approves the Final Plat of Cornerstone 

for recording in the form as attached hereto as Exhibit 1, subject to the completion of 

those certain plat improvements for which Developer has posted financial guarantees and 

has agreed to complete as provided in the attached Exhibit 1; and further subject to 

maintenance of the plat property as set forth in the maintenance bonds, previously posted, 

as set forth in the attached Exhibit 1. 

 

  PASSED in open and regular session on this 9th day of August 2011. 

 

       _____________________________ 
       Mayor Margaret Harto 
ATTESTED: 
      
         
Sharron Scott, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
      
Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 

81 of 171



EXHIBIT 1

82 of 171



83 of 171



84 of 171



85 of 171



86 of 171



87 of 171



 Agenda Item 1  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: August 9, 2011   
 
SUBJECT:   PUBLIC HEARING TO RECEIVE TESTIMONY FROM THE PUBLIC 

REGARDING 2011 DOCKETED COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT 
DOCKET. 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
                                          
ATTACHMENTS:   

1-12:  2011 Docketed Comprehensive Plan and Development Regulation Amendments 
(Applications and Amendment Attachments) [PLEASE REMEMBER TO SAVE THESE 
ATTACHMENTS AND MATERIALS TO USE AT YOUR SEPTEMBER MEETING 
WHEN FINAL ACTION WILL BE TAKEN ON THE ADOPTING ORDINANCE]  

 
PREPARED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
                              
EXPLANATION: 
On April 12, 2011, the City Council formally “docketed” three (3) proposed Comprehensive 
Plan Amendments (CPA’s) and one (1) proposed Development Regulation Amendment (DRA).  
(See Attachments 1 through 10)  During the last four months, city staff and the Planning 
Commission have worked on processing these amendments.  Two of them relate to revised 
elements of the Comprehensive Plan—a new Chapter 6-Parks and Recreation Element, and a 
new Chapter 13-Shoreline Master Program Element.  These two amendments were docketed by 
city staff to meet state GMA requirements.  The proposed revisions to the Parks and Recreation 
Element are tied directly to the PROS Plan recently approved by the City Council and set those 
policies within our overall Comprehensive Plan.  The new Shoreline Element is required by the 
state and reflects the recently completed Shoreline Master Program Update, a four-year effort of 
the staff, citizen advisory group, and the Planning Commission.  The city never had a Shoreline 
Element in our Comprehensive Plan, as we primarily followed old King County shoreline 
regulations carried over and placed in our Title 18 development regulations since city 
incorporation in 1997.        
 
The last two docketed amendments relate to replacing the previously deleted segment of the 
proposed 171st Ave SE roadway in the Town Center zone, which would encompass a new “Main 
Street” style roadway as the cornerstone of the proposed Town Center.  These two amendments 
were docketed by the Planning Commission.  One is an amendment to the maps in both the 
Downtown and Transportation Elements, while the other is an amendment to the map in the 
development & design regulations as part of Title 18.31.060.  These two amendments were seen 
by the Planning Commission as critical to the eventual development of a pedestrian-friendly 
downtown and a true grid system in the proposed Town Center, both of which are a cornerstone 
of the Town Center vision the Council established in the policies of the Downtown Element.  
Having a complete grid system with identified street types tied to specific design standards 
provides greater predictability for future developers of property. In addition, having a complete 
pedestrian-oriented street makes the downtown competitive, implements a walkable urban 

88 of 171



community, and encourages compact development, which in turn creates a better quality of life 
in our future downtown.  The complete grid street system establishes a clearly defined downtown 
core and makes it visually interesting and vibrant.     
 
On June 16, 2011, the Planning Commission held their required public hearing on all four 
docketed amendments.  The Commission received no comment or testimony on the proposed 
Parks & Recreation Element-Chapter 6 or on the Shoreline Element-Chapter 13.  The 
Commission received two letters of objection from Ashton Development Company (Doug 
Mergenthaler & Don Ramsey) opposing the latter two amendments relating to replacing the 
missing segment of the proposed 171st Ave SE roadway in the Town Center.  (See Attachments 
11 and 12)  On July 7, 2011, the Commission recommended adoption of all four proposed 
Comprehensive Plan and Development Regulation Amendments.  One Planning Commission 
member dissented from the positive recommendation.       
 
After tonight’s public hearing, the Council will be able to deliberate on the proposed 
amendments and staff will bring back a final ordinance for adoption in September of any or all of 
the proposed 2011 docketed items.  The Council must eventually make a final decision on all 
2011 “docketed” Comprehensive Plan Amendments by the end of the calendar year and is bound 
by state statute to review and either approve, modify, deny, or defer the proposed CPA’s and 
DRA’s by December 31, 2011.  
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
None—other than adoption, modification, denial, or deference to a subsequent year.   
  
FISCAL IMPACT:  
None associated directly with the Comprehensive Plan Amendments.  Minor printing costs will 
be required to print new elements of the Plan and new maps and will be accomplished within 
existing budgeted items of the city.   
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  ____Ordinance  ______Resolution  ______Motion  ___X___Other 
 

NO ACTION REQUIRED AT THIS MEETING.   
 
 

 
REVIEWED BY:  City Manager 
                               Finance Director  
         City Attorney   

 

89 of 171



 

 

Memo 
To: Planning Commission Members   

From: Richard Hart, Community Development Director  

Date: June 16, 2011 

Re: Public Hearing on 2011 Docketed Comprehensive Plan Amendments and Development 
Regulation Amendment.      

 
The Planning Commission has held several meeting discussing the proposed 2011 Docket for 
Comprehensive Plan Amendments and Development Regulation Amendment.  Tonight on June 16, 
the formal public hearing is scheduled and has been duly noticed in the newspaper as required.  In 
addition staff has notified Ashton via email since they have sent a comment letter to the city 
objecting to one of the amendments related to replacing the missing segment of the Type I Street 
along the proposed 171st street alignment.  DevCo also provided a request letter for conversion of a 
Type II street to a Type I street.   
 
After listening to all public comment and testimony, the Commission is also welcome to have any 
discussion they desire as the item is also listed as a discussion item as well as a public hearing on the 
Agenda.  We have also scheduled the final decision and recommendation by the Commission for the 
July 7, 2011 meeting, after which your final recommendation will be forwarded to the City Council in 
August.   
 
There are three comprehensive plan amendments and one development regulation amendment 
(associated with one of the comprehensive plan amendments proposed). The 2011 Docketed items 
are as follows: 
 
a. CPA 2011-1: The Shoreline Master Program (SMP), incorporated in the Comprehensive Plan as 
Ch. 13, was submitted by the Community Development Department.   

b. CPA 2011-2: The Parks Plan, to be incorporated as Ch. 6 in the Comprehensive Plan, was 
submitted by the Parks & Recreation Department.   

c. CPA 2011-3: A revised Downtown Street Type Map which replaces a missing segment of the 
proposed 171st Ave SE as a Type I Street in Ch. 5 of the Downtown Element & Ch. 6 of the 
Transportation Element of the Comprehensive Plan, was submitted by the Planning Commission.   

e. DRA 2011-1: A revised Development & Design Standards Street Type Map, which replaces a 
missing segment of the proposed 171st Ave SE in Section 18.31.060 of the Covington Municipal Code 
(CMC), was submitted by the Planning Commission.   

ATTACHMENT 1

90 of 171



 A-430  

CITY OF COVINGTON 
Community Development Department 
16720 SE 271st Street • Suite 100 • Covington, WA 98042 
Phone: 253-638-1110 • Fax: 253-638-1122 
www.ci.covington.wa.us 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT APPLICATION 

Rev. 10/08  
Q:\Permit Services\Land Use\2009 Update\Comp Plan  Application Page 1 of 4 

2011 Application Deadline: February 1, 2011 

 

 Docket Number:    CPA-2011-1           Application Date:  1-20-11   
x□ City-initiated    □ Privately-initiated 

STAFF USE ONLY 

APPLICANT                     x□ Primary Contact Person   

Name:    Richard Hart                

Address:     City of Covington              

City/State/Zip:  98042                    

Phone:   (253) 638-1110 Ext.2226 Fax:            

E-mail Address:   rhart@ci.covington.wa.us        

Signature:                               

AGENT                                □ Primary Contact Person  

Name:                                 

Address:                                

City/State/Zip:                           

Phone:                        Fax:               

E-mail Address:                           

Signature:                               

PROPERTY OWNER                                       

Name:    Various property owners, as this Non-Site 

Specific Comp Plan Policies Amendment affects a variety 

of land owners within the designated shoreline jurisdic-

tion in the City of Covington.           

Address:                                                             

City/State/Zip:  All zoning districts  in Covington    

PROPERTY OWNER 2                                      

Name:                                 

Address:                                

City/State/Zip:                           

Phone:                        Fax:               

E-mail Address:                           

Signature:                               

TYPE OF COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT 
□  This is a site-specific amendment proposal. Complete site-specific information below.  

X  This is a non-site-specific amendment proposal.  Complete area-wide/textual amendment information below. 
  This amendment proposal involves additions to the existing Environmental Element of the Comprehensive Plan, 

Chapter 7.     

Give street address or, if vacant, indicate lot(s), block, and subdivision OR tax lot number, access street and 
nearest intersection.  If proposal applies to several parcels, list the streets bounding the area. 
 

ADDRESS(ES):        (NA)                                                       
    
 
ASSESSOR’S PARCEL NUMBER(S):                         SITE AREA:                        
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION(S):                                                           

                                                                          
 

□ PROPOSED CHANGE TO FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION: FROM ________ (CURRENT) TO _______ (PROPOSED) 

SITE-SPECIFIC AMENDMENTS 

ATTACHMENT 2

91 of 171



Page 2 of 4 
Rev. 10/08  
Q:\Permit Services\Land Use\2009 Update\Comp Plan  Application 

 

Chapter and section of comprehensive plan to be amended:   Add a new Ch. 13 Shoreline Element                        
 
 
Indicate either conceptual or specific amendatory language.  Please be as specific as possible to aid in the 
evaluation of your proposal.  If specific changes are proposed, please indicate current language and 
proposed language. 
Currently the Environmental Element contains no specific shoreline goals, policies, environmental 

designations, or development regulations. The existing Environmental Element contains critical area 

policies and related natural resource stewardship policies.  This amendment will create a new Element, 

a Chapter 13, for Shorelines, and identify specific overall goals and policies related to the RCW required 

Shoreline Master Program (SMP) and adopt by reference the complete SMP.  The complete SMP document 

is available from the City of Covington for review as part of this Comp Plan Amendment.               

                                                                         

AREA-WIDE & TEXT AMENDMENTS 

An amendment may be considered for placement on the final docket under any one of the following 
circumstances.  Check the applicable box, and describe in detail how the proposed amendment complies 
with the criterion.  Attach additional sheets as necessary.  
 

□  If the proposed amendment is site-specific, the subject property is suitable for development in general 
conformance with adjacent land use and the surrounding development pattern, and with zoning standards 
under the potential zoning classifications. 
                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                          

 

X□  State law requires, or a decision of a court or administrative agency has directed such a change.  
      State Law requires all local governments to have an updated Shoreline Master Program and goals, 

policies and regulations in their Comprehensive Plans and Development Regulations by June 30, 2011.  

This action will comply with the Comp Plan portion of that requirement.                         

 

X□  There exists an obvious technical error in the pertinent comprehensive plan provision.  
     There are no Shoreline goals and policies in the current Comprehensive Plan as required by law.  

     This adds a new Element Ch. 13 to address state requirements.                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

DESCRIBE HOW PROPOSAL MEETS DECISION CRITERIA 

92 of 171



                                                                          

                                    

DESCRIBE HOW PROPOSAL MEETS SELECTION / DECISION CRITERIA (CONT’D.) 

If none of the three conditions on p.2 apply, then the proposed amendment must meet all five of the 
following criteria.  Please answer the following questions, providing specific details and attaching 
additional sheets as necessary.  
 
1. Explain how the proposed amendment is appropriately addressed through the comprehensive plan and 

how it would be a public benefit to the City of Covington (i.e. enhances the public health, safety, and 
welfare).  

      

    Currently the Comprehensive Plan has no goals policies relating to the Shoreline Master Program.         

The public benefits by having specific shoreline policies in the Comprehensive Plan.                                          

 
2. Proposed amendments that are the same or substantially-similar to an amendment proposed during 

the last three amendment cycles are not eligible for consideration, except in certain cases due to 
geographic expansion by the City (see CMC 14.25.040(3)).  Has the same or a substantially-similar 
amendment been proposed during the last three annual amendment cycles?     X No       □  Yes 

 
   If yes, how has geographic expansion necessitated the proposed amendment? 
 
___________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
3. Does the proposed amendment raise any policy or land-use issues that are more appropriately 

addressed by an ongoing work program approved by the City Council?   X□  No       □  Yes 
 
   Please explain: 
 
     The proposed changes need to be addressed with new policy and text language in some location 

within the Comprehensive Plan.  A new Shoreline Element is the most logical solution. These goals, 
policies and guidelines are not within a annual work program of any department of the City.         

  
4. Explain how the proposed amendment addresses significantly changed conditions since the last time 

the pertinent comprehensive plan map or text was amended.  “Significantly changed conditions” are 
those resulting from unanticipated consequences of an adopted policy, or changed conditions on the 
subject property or its surrounding area, or changes related to the pertinent comprehensive plan map 
or text; where such change has implications of a magnitude that need to be addressed for the 
comprehensive plan to function as an integrated whole.   

 
     The last changes to the Comprehensive Plan had no such policies, and the City has not ever amended 

its Shoreline Master Program since adopting by reference the King County shoreline policies and 
regulations upon incorporation in 1997.   

          
 

Rev. 10/08  
Q:\Permit Services\Land Use\2009 Update\Comp Plan  Application Page 3 of 4 93 of 171



Rev. 10/08  
Q:\Permit Services\Land Use\2009 Update\Comp Plan  Application Page 4 of 4 

5. Explain how the proposed amendment is consistent with: 
 
(a) The vision, goals, and policies of the comprehensive plan, and other goals and policies of the City: 
 
     The proposed goals and policies will support the Land Use, Environmental and Natural Hazards 

Elements expressed in the Comprehensive Plan. The proposed Comprehensive Plan text amendments will 

strengthen the stewardship of natural resources and vision for the whole community, which in turn 

support the overall vision and the Plan.                                               

 
(b) The Countywide Planning Policies, the Growth Management Act, State Environmental Policy Act 

(SEPA), the Washington Administrative Code, and other applicable state and federal laws.  
 
      The proposed changes outlined above are consistent with Countywide Planning Policies, the 

Growth Management Act, SEPA and WAC for sustainable growth and development as well as stewardship 

and protection of shoreline areas within the community. This Comprehensive Plan text amendment will 

also require a supplemental development regulation amendment to further define and modify the 

specific uses allowed in all shoreline jurisdictions of Covington.  The development regulation amendment 

will be completed later this year or in 2012.                                           

DESCRIBE HOW PROPOSAL MEETS SELECTION / DECISION CRITERIA (CONT’D.) 

COSTS & BENEFITS / ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
1. Describe the effects of the proposed amendment in terms of costs and benefits to the public, both 

monetary and non-monetary. 
     Since the proposed changes for the Shoreline Master Program in relation to land use goals and 

policies, development patterns, and intensity of development, will strengthen the preservation of natu-

ral resources, they will be more cost effective and efficient in the long-term.           

 
2. Describe and/or attach any studies, research information, or further documentation that will support 

this proposal. 
 
    The City completed a new Shoreline Master Program with an Inventory and Analysis of Shoreline   

Areas, Goals and Policies, and a Restoration Plan.  These documents are available from the city website 

and support the Comp Plan Amendment proposed.                                       

 

I have reviewed the Comprehensive Plan Amendment Instruction Guide and Timeline, and certify that the 
information provided on this application is true and correct. 

  
 

                                                                         
                                   Applicant’s/Agent’s Signature                                    Date 
 
 
Please note: If this is a site-specific amendment proposal, all affected property owners must complete, sign, 
and have notarized a Property Owner Declaration. 

CERTIFICATION / SIGNATURE 

94 of 171



City of Covington Comprehensive Plan                                                                                             Shoreline Element 

February 2011                                                                                                                                                  Chapter 13, page 1 
 
 

13.0  SHORELINE ELEMENT 

13.1  Introduction 

Pursuant to the Growth Management Act (GMA) and the Shoreline 
Management Act (SMA), the City of Covington Shoreline Master 
Program (SMP) in its entirety is an element of the Comprehensive 
Plan. This chapter provides a brief summary of the SMP. Please 
refer to the complete SMP on file with the City Clerk and adopted 
by reference with this Chapter of the Comprehensive Plan for more 
detailed policy and regulatory guidance. Where a conflict exists 
between the language in this summary and that contained in the 
SMP, the latter shall apply. 

The City of Covington (City) obtained a grant from the 
Washington Department of Ecology (Ecology) in 2007 to conduct 
a comprehensive Shoreline Master Program (SMP) update 
pursuant to the requirements contained in the Shoreline Master 
Program Guidelines (Chapter 173-26 WAC), hereafter referred to 
as The Guidelines. The first step of the update process was to 
inventory the City’s shoreline jurisdiction as defined by the SMA 
(RCW 90.58). Biological and physical conditions were then 
analyzed and characterized in the Covington Shoreline Analysis 
Report. This created a baseline from which future development 
actions in the shoreline will be measured. Environment 
designations were then identified for the different shoreline 
reaches, and goals, policies and regulations were developed. 

The Guidelines require that the City demonstrate that 
implementation of the SMP will result “no net loss” in shoreline 
ecological functions relative to the baseline. Ideally, the SMP in 
combination with other City and regional efforts will ultimately 
produce a net improvement in shoreline ecological functions. 

The purposes of this Master Program are: 

1. To carry out the responsibilities given to the City of Covington 
by the Washington State Shoreline Management Act (RCW 
90.58) 

ATTACHMENT 3

95 of 171



City of Covington Comprehensive Plan                                                                                             Shoreline Element 

February 2011                                                                                                                                                  Chapter 13, page 2 
 
 

2. Promote the public health, safety, and general welfare, by 
providing a guide and regulation for the future development of 
the shoreline resources of the City of Covington. 

3. To further, by adoption, the policies of RCW 90.58, and the 
goals of this Master Program. 

13.2  Planning Context 

The goals and policies of the Shoreline Master Program reflect the 
requirements of the Shoreline Management Act, the Washington 
State Department of Ecology Shoreline Master Program Guidelines 
(Chapter 173-26 WAC) and the preferences and vision of the City 
of Covington as expressed in this Comprehensive Plan. 

Washington’s Shoreline Management Act (Act) was adopted by 
the public in a 1972 referendum “to prevent the inherent harm in an 
uncoordinated and piecemeal development of the state’s 
shorelines.” The Act has three broad policies: 

1. Encourage water-dependent uses: "uses shall be preferred 
which are consistent with control of pollution and prevention of 
damage to the natural environment, or are unique to or 
dependent upon use of the states' shorelines...” 

2. Protect shoreline natural resources, including "...the land and 
its vegetation and wildlife, and the water of the state and their 
aquatic life..." 

3. Promote public access: “the public’s opportunity to enjoy the 
physical and aesthetic qualities of natural shorelines of the state 
shall be preserved to the greatest extent feasible consistent with 
the overall best interest of the state and the people generally." 

This Act recognizes that "shorelines are among the most valuable 
and fragile" of the state's resources. The Act, and the City of 
Covington, recognize and protect private property rights along the 
shoreline, while aiming to preserve the quality of this unique 
resource for all state residents. 

The primary purpose of the Act is to provide for the management 
and protection of the state's shoreline resources by planning for 
reasonable and appropriate uses. In order to protect the public 
interest in preserving these shorelines, the Act establishes a 
coordinated planning program between the state and local 
jurisdictions to use in addressing the types and effects of 

96 of 171



City of Covington Comprehensive Plan                                                                                             Shoreline Element 

February 2011                                                                                                                                                  Chapter 13, page 3 
 
 

development occurring along the state's shorelines. By law, the 
City is responsible for the following: 

1. Development of an inventory of the natural characteristics and 
land use patterns along shorelines covered by the act. 

2. Preparation of a "Master Program" to determine the future of 
the shorelines. 

3. Development of a permit system to further the goals and 
policies of both the act and the local Master Plan. 

4. Development of a Restoration Plan that includes goals, policies 
and actions for restoration of impaired shoreline ecological 
functions. 

The provisions of the Shoreline Master Program may be amended 
as provided for in RCW 90.58.120 and .200 and Chapter 173-26 
WAC. Any amendments shall also be subject to the procedures in 
CMC Chapter 14.25. Amendments or revisions to the Master 
Program, as provided by law, do not become effective until 
approved by both the City of Covington and the Department of 
Ecology. 

13.3  Shoreline Jurisdiction and Environment Designations 

The SMP only applies to those areas within shoreline jurisdiction. 
Shoreline jurisdiction in the City of Covington includes the waters 
and upland area within 200 feet of the ordinary high water mark of 
the lower reaches of Big Soos Creek and Jenkins Creek, and those 
portions of Pipe Lake within the City. In addition, associated 
wetlands and portions of the floodplain are also included as 
described in the SMP. Figure 13.1 shows those areas believed to 
fall within Shoreline jurisdiction, however, the actual definition 
contained in the SMP and SMA shall apply, regardless of the 
mapped extent. 

The basic intent of shoreline environment designations is to 
encourage development that will enhance the present or desired 
character of the shoreline. To accomplish this, shoreline segments 
are given an environment designation based on existing 
development patterns, biological capabilities and limitations, and 
the aspirations of the local citizenry. Environment designations are 
categories that reflect the overall type of development that should 
take place in a given area. 

97 of 171



City of Covington Comprehensive Plan                                                                                             Shoreline Element 

February 2011                                                                                                                                                  Chapter 13, page 4 
 
 

Shoreline environments are derived from the Covington Shoreline 
Analysis Report, the Covington Comprehensive Plan, and the 
environments recommended by the Shoreline Management Act 
(RCW 90.58) and the Shoreline Guidelines (Chapter 1783-26 
WAC). The Shoreline Analysis Report provides an inventory of 
natural and built conditions in the City’s shoreline jurisdiction. The 
conditions identified in the inventory have been compared with the 
recommended shoreline environments and the most appropriate 
environments selected.  

The five (5) Covington shoreline environment designations are: 

1. High-Intensity, 
2. Medium-Intensity, 
3. Shoreline Residential,  
4. Urban Conservancy, and 
5. Aquatic. 

These shoreline environments are illustrated for the City of 
Covington in Figure 13.1, located at the end of this chapter, and 
described in the text below. Each shoreline description includes a 
statement of purpose, followed by designation criteria and 
designated areas. Any undesignated shorelines are automatically 
assigned an Urban Conservancy environment. Please see the 
complete SMP for the entire list of management policies and 
regulations pertaining to the shoreline environments. 

13.3.1  High Intensity 

The purpose of the High-Intensity environment designation is to 
provide for high-intensity water-oriented and non-water oriented 
commercial, transportation, and industrial uses while protecting 
existing ecological functions and restoring ecological functions in 
areas that have been previously degraded. 

Designation criteria: assign a High-Intensity environment 
designation to shoreline areas within incorporated municipalities 
and urban growth areas, if they currently support high-intensity 
uses related to commerce, transportation or navigation; or are 
suitable and planned for high-intensity water-oriented uses. 

Designated areas: the only High-Intensity area is that portion of 
Jenkins Creek adjacent to the Bonneville Power Authority utility 
site as shown in Figure 13.1. Specifically, the High-Intensity area 
includes the shorelands of Jenkins Creek from the City boundary, 
upstream to the eastern edge of the public right-of-way that 
contains the bridge at Covington Way SE.  

98 of 171



City of Covington Comprehensive Plan                                                                                             Shoreline Element 

February 2011                                                                                                                                                  Chapter 13, page 5 
 
 

13.3.2  Medium Intensity 

The purpose of the Medium-Intensity environment designation is 
to provide for water oriented and non-water oriented commercial, 
mixed-use, and residential uses while protecting existing 
ecological functions and restoring ecological functions in areas that 
have been previously degraded. Adaptive reuse of existing 
structures for office uses is emphasized, along with public access 
and water-enjoyment uses. 

Designation criteria: assign a Medium-Intensity environment 
designation to shoreline areas if they currently support residential, 
water-enjoyment or commercial uses, are located in upland areas 
outside of stream buffers, and are suitable and planned for limited 
intensity commercial, residential or water-enjoyment uses. 

Designated areas

13.3.3  Shoreline Residential 

: shoreline areas located outside of the 115 foot 
stream buffer along Jenkins Creek have a Medium-Intensity 
environment designation as shown in Figure 13.1. These areas 
include shorelands located at least 115 feet from the OHWM of 
Jenkins Creek up to 200 feet from the OHWM of Jenkins Creek, 
and beyond to the boundary of any associated wetlands where these 
are found to exist. The linear extent of the Medium-Intensity 
environment extends to the eastern edge of the right of way that 
contains the Covington Way SE bridge, upstream to the point 
where two tributaries join and the 20 cubic feet per second mean 
annual threshold is no longer met. This designation runs parallel to 
an Urban Conservancy designation for shorelands adjacent to 
Jenkins Creek that meet the designation criteria.  

The Shoreline Residential environment designation is designed to 
provide for residential needs where the necessary facilities for 
development can be provided. An additional purpose is to provide 
appropriate public access and recreational uses. 

Designation criteria: assign a Shoreline Residential environment 
designation to shoreline areas if they are predominantly single-
family or multifamily residential development or are planned and 
platted for residential development. 

Designated areas: Shoreline Residential areas in Covington include 
those areas adjacent to Pipe Lake that are currently developed as 
single family or appurtenances, where that use is anticipated to 
continue in the future. Specifically, the Shoreline Residential 

99 of 171



City of Covington Comprehensive Plan                                                                                             Shoreline Element 

February 2011                                                                                                                                                  Chapter 13, page 6 
 
 

environment includes all Pipe Lake shorelands with Covington 
City limits, with the exception of the Camp McCullough property. 

13.3.4  Urban Conservancy 

The purpose of the High-Intensity environment designation is to 
provide for high-intensity water-oriented and non-water oriented 
commercial, transportation, and industrial uses while protecting 
existing ecological functions and restoring ecological functions in 
areas that have been previously degraded. 

The purpose of the Urban Conservancy environment designation is 
to protect and restore ecological functions of open space, flood 
plain and other sensitive lands where they exist in urban and 
developed settings, while allowing a variety of compatible uses. 

Designation criteria

1. They are suitable for water-related or water-enjoyment 
uses; 

: areas designated Urban Conservancy are those 
areas where one or more of the following characteristics apply: 

2. They are open space, flood plain, stream buffer or other 
sensitive areas that should not be more intensively 
developed; 

3. They have potential for ecological restoration; 

4. They retain important ecological functions, even though 
partially developed; or 

5. They have the potential for development that is compatible 
with ecological restoration. 

Designated areas

Please note:  where the Urban Conservancy designation exists 
along Jenkins Creek, a “parallel designation” of Medium-Intensity 
is located in upland areas beyond the 115 foot stream buffer. 

: Urban Conservancy areas includes all shorelands 
adjacent to Big Soos Creek and shorelands adjacent to Jenkins 
Creek upstream or eastern edge of the Covington Way SE bridge 
right-of-way and at Pipe Lake on the Camp McCullough property 
where open space, stream buffers and other sensitive lands exist as 
shown in Figure 1.  

100 of 171



City of Covington Comprehensive Plan                                                                                             Shoreline Element 

February 2011                                                                                                                                                  Chapter 13, page 7 
 
 

13.3.5  Aquatic 

The purpose of the Aquatic environment designation is to protect, 
restore, and manage the unique characteristics and resources of the 
areas waterward of the ordinary high- water mark. 

Designation criteria: assign an Aquatic environment designation to 
all areas waterward of the ordinary high-water mark. 

Designated areas

13.3  Shoreline Master Program Goals and Policies 

: Aquatic areas include all areas waterward of the 
ordinary high-water mark as shown in Figure 13.1.  

The following section contains key goals and policies from the 
Shoreline Master Program. This is an abbreviated list

13.3.1  Shoreline Use and Modifications 

; please see 
the full text of goals, policies, environment designations and 
regulations in the complete Shoreline Master Program, which are 
hereby incorporated by reference. 

SMPG 1.0 The application of master program policies and 
regulations to all uses and related modifications shall 
assure no net loss of ecological functions necessary to 
sustain shoreline natural resources within the Covington 
SMA. 

SMPP 1.1 All development and redevelopment 
activities within the City’s shoreline 
jurisdiction should be designed to ensure 
public safety, enhance public access, protect 
existing shoreline and water views and 
achieve no net loss of shoreline ecological 
functions.  

SMPP 1.2 Water oriented uses shall be given 
preference over non-water oriented uses. 

SMPP 1.3 New residential development should be 
designed to protect existing shoreline water 
views, promote public safety, and avoid 
adverse impacts to shoreline habitats. 

SMPP 1.4 Recognizing the single purpose, irreversible 
and space consumptive nature of shoreline 
residential development, new development 

101 of 171



City of Covington Comprehensive Plan                                                                                             Shoreline Element 

February 2011                                                                                                                                                  Chapter 13, page 8 
 
 

should provide adequate setbacks and 
natural buffers from the water and ample 
open space among structures to protect 
natural features, preserve views and 
minimize use conflict.  

SMPP 1.5 Proposed economic use of the shoreline 
should be consistent with Covington’s 
Comprehensive Plan. Conversely, upland 
uses on adjacent lands outside of immediate 
SMA jurisdiction (in accordance with RCW 
90.58.340) should be consistent with the 
purpose and intent of this master program 
as they affect the shoreline. 

SMPP 1.6 Road and bridge construction or expansion 
in the shoreline jurisdiction should be 
avoided, unless necessary to serve a 
permitted shoreline use or found to be 
within the public interest. 

SMPP 1.7 New stream crossings associated with 
transportation should be minimized. Where 
necessary culverts or bridges should be 
designed to provide for stream functions 
such as fish passage and accommodate the 
flow of water, sediment and woody debris 
during storm events. 

SMPP 1.8 New primary utilities are discouraged in the 
SMA jurisdiction and should utilize existing 
transportation and utility sites, rights-of-
way and corridors whenever possible, rather 
than creating new corridors. Joint use of 
rights of- way and corridors should be 
encouraged. 

SMPP 1.9 Low Impact Development (LID) and “Green 
Building” practices, such as those 
promulgated under the Leadership in 
Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) 
and Green Built programs should be 
encouraged and in some cases required for 
new development within the shoreline 
jurisdiction. 

102 of 171



City of Covington Comprehensive Plan                                                                                             Shoreline Element 

February 2011                                                                                                                                                  Chapter 13, page 9 
 
 

SMPP 1.10 Shoreline stabilization should be permitted 
only when it has been demonstrated that 
shoreline stabilization is necessary for the 
protection of existing legally established 
structures and public improvements, and 
that there are no other feasible options to 
the proposed shoreline stabilization that 
have less impact on the shoreline 
environment. 

SMPP 1.11 New piers and docks should be restricted to 
the minimum size necessary and permitted 
only when the applicant has demonstrated 
that a specific need exists to support the 
intended water-dependent use. 

13.3.2  Shoreline Conservation 

SMPG 2.0 Preserve, protect, and restore to the greatest extent 
feasible the natural resources of the shoreline, including 
but not limited to scenic vistas, aesthetics, and vital 
riparian areas for wildlife protection.  

SMPP 2.1 Protect shoreline process and ecological 
functions through regulatory and non-
regulatory means that may include 
acquisition of key properties, conservation 
easements, regulation of development within 
the shoreline jurisdiction, and incentives to 
encourage ecologically sound design. 

SMPP 2.2 Reclaim and restore areas which are 
biologically and aesthetically degraded to 
the greatest extent feasible while 
maintaining appropriate use of the 
shoreline.  

SMPP 2.3 Preserve and enhance vegetation along 
shorelines to protect and restore the 
ecological functions and ecosystem-wide 
processes performed by upland and aquatic 
vegetation. Native plant communities within 
the shoreline environment should be 
protected and maintained. All clearing and 
grading activities should be designed and 
conducted to avoid and minimize impacts to 

103 of 171



City of Covington Comprehensive Plan                                                                                             Shoreline Element 

February 2011                                                                                                                                                  Chapter 13, page 10 
 
 

wildlife habitat; sedimentation of creeks, 
streams, ponds, lakes, wetlands and other 
water bodies; soil hydrology and water 
quality 

SMPP 2.4 All shoreline uses and activities should be 
located, designed, constructed and 
maintained to minimize adverse impacts to 
water quality and fish and wildlife resources 
including spawning, nesting, rearing, and 
feeding areas and migratory routes. 

SMPP 2.5 Identify, protect, preserve and restore 
important archaeological, historical and 
cultural sites located in shoreline 
jurisdiction of Covington for their 
educational and scientific value, as well as 
for the recreational enjoyment of the general 
public.  

13.3.3  Public Access and Recreation 

SMPG 3.0 Increase the amount and diversity of public access to 
the shoreline, and preserve and enhance views of the 
shoreline, consistent with the natural shoreline 
character, private rights and public safety. 

SMPP 3.1 Ensure new public access does not adversely 
affect the integrity and character of the 
shoreline, or threaten fragile shoreline 
ecosystems by locating new access points on 
the least sensitive portion of the site and 
providing mitigation so there is no net loss 
of shoreline function.  

SMPP 3.2 Public access provisions should be required 
for all shoreline development and uses, 
except for water dependent uses, existing 
single family dwellings, and new individual 
single family residences not part of a 
development planned for more than four 
parcels. 

SMPP 3.3 Recreational facilities in the shoreline 
jurisdiction should emphasize water-
oriented uses.  

104 of 171



City of Covington Comprehensive Plan                                                                                             Shoreline Element 

February 2011                                                                                                                                                  Chapter 13, page 11 
 
 

SMPP 3.4 Public access provisions should be required 
for all shoreline development and uses, 
except for water dependent uses and 
individual single family residences not part 
of a development planned for more than four 
parcels. 

SMPP 3.5 Camp McCullough represents a particularly 
important public access opportunity given 
its location on Pipe Lake, the current use as 
a private recreation facility, and the high 
ecological functions of the site. Ensure 
continued recreational use of the property 
and consider possible future public access 
through an agreement, easement, or 
acquisition in the event of future 
development and conversion to a non-
recreational use. 

SMPP 3.6 Provide and enhance shoreline access to 
Jenkins Creek and Big Soos Creek through 
fee simple acquisition, easements, signage of 
public access points, and designation and 
design of specific shoreline access areas for 
wildlife viewing. 

 

105 of 171



City of Covington Comprehensive Plan                                                                                             Shoreline Element 

February 2011                                                                                                                                                  Chapter 13, page 12 
 
 

Figure 13.1.  Shoreline Environment Designations Map 

 

 

[ Map to be inserted -- Page left intentionally blank ] 

106 of 171



 

 

 A-430  

CITY OF COVINGTON 
Community Development Department 
16720 SE 271st Street • Suite 100 • Covington, WA 98042 
Phone: 253-638-1110 • Fax: 253-638-1122 
www.ci.covington.wa.us 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT APPLICATION 

Rev. 11/10  
R:\rhart\Public\2011 Comp Plan Amendment Docket, Instructions & Applications\Comp Plan Amendment Docket Application 2011 Page 1 of 4 

2011 Application Deadline: February 1, 2011 

 

 Docket Number:   CPA-2011-2       Application Date:  1-20-11       
X□ City-initiated    □ Privately-initiated 

STAFF USE ONLY 

APPLICANT                     □ Primary Contact Person   

Name:    Parks and Recreation Department         

Address:   16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100         

City/State/Zip:   Covington, WA  98042           

Phone:   x3279               Fax:               

E-mail Address:  sthomas@ci.covington.wa.us        

Signature:                               

AGENT                                X Primary Contact Person  

Name:  Scott Thomas                       

Address:                                

City/State/Zip:                           

Phone:                        Fax:               

E-mail Address:                           

Signature:                               

PROPERTY OWNER                                       

Name:       NA                        

Address:                                

City/State/Zip:                           

Phone:                        Fax:               

E-mail Address:                           

Signature:                               

PROPERTY OWNER 2                                      

Name:                                 

Address:                                

City/State/Zip:                           

Phone:                        Fax:               

E-mail Address:                           

Signature:                               

TYPE OF COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT 
□  This is a site-specific amendment proposal. Complete site-specific information below.  

X  This is a non-site-specific amendment proposal.  Complete area-wide/textual amendment information below. 

□  This amendment proposal involves changes to development regulation text and/or tables and/or changes to the 
zoning map.  Complete a separate Application for Development Regulation and/or Zoning Map Amendment. 

Give street address or, if vacant, indicate lot(s), block, and subdivision OR tax lot number, access street and 
nearest intersection.  If proposal applies to several parcels, list the streets bounding the area. 
 

ADDRESS(ES):                                                                   
 
ASSESSOR’S PARCEL NUMBER(S):                         SITE AREA:                        
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION(S):                                                           

                                                                          
 

□ PROPOSED CHANGE TO FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION: FROM ________ (CURRENT) TO _______ (PROPOSED) 

□ PROPOSED CHANGE TO OFFICIAL ZONING MAP DESIGNATION: FROM ________ (CURRENT) TO ________ (PROPOSED) 

SITE-SPECIFIC AMENDMENTS 

ATTACHMENT 4

107 of 171



 

 
Page 2 of 4 

Rev. 11/10  
R:\rhart\Public\2011 Comp Plan Amendment Docket, Instructions & Applications\Comp Plan Amendment Docket Application 2011 

 

Chapter and section of comprehensive plan to be amended:  Chapter 6, Parks and Community Services    
 
Indicate either conceptual or specific amendatory language.  Please be as specific as possible to aid in the 
evaluation of your proposal.  If specific changes are proposed, please indicate current language and 
proposed language. 
                                                                                    

The Parks and Community Services Element was last updated in 2003.  Many conditions in the city have 

changed over the last seven years.  This amendment incorporates information developed during the 

Parks, Recreation and Open Space (PROS) Plan process and synchronizes the PROS Plan and the Comp Plan 

— the two primary guidance documents for the department.                                

                                                                         

                                                                                                

                                                                         

AREA-WIDE & TEXT AMENDMENTS 

An amendment may be considered for placement on the final docket under any one of the following 
circumstances.  Check the applicable box, and describe in detail how the proposed amendment complies 
with the criterion.  Attach additional sheets as necessary.  
 

□  If the proposed amendment is site-specific, the subject property is suitable for development in general 
conformance with adjacent land use and the surrounding development pattern, and with zoning standards 
under the potential zoning classifications. 
                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                          

 

X□  State law requires, or a decision of a court or administrative agency has directed such a change.  
State law requires a Parks Element, and it must be updated every 6 years and is due to be updated in 

2013.  A current updated Parks Element is also required for State funding for parks projects.          

                                                                          

 

□  There exists an obvious technical error in the pertinent comprehensive plan provision.  
                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                          

DESCRIBE HOW PROPOSAL MEETS DECISION CRITERIA 

108 of 171



 

 

DESCRIBE HOW PROPOSAL MEETS SELECTION / DECISION CRITERIA (CONT’D.) 

If none of the three conditions on p.2 apply, then the proposed amendment must meet all five of the 
following criteria.  Please answer the following questions, providing specific details and attaching 
additional sheets as necessary.  
 
1. Explain how the proposed amendment is appropriately addressed through the comprehensive plan and 

how it would be a public benefit to the City of Covington (i.e. enhances the public health, safety, and 
welfare).  

 
___This is a routine update of the Parks and Community Services Element of the Plan.  As conditions 

change in the city over time, such as population and development of parks and trails, it is necessary to 

engage the public, review their priorities, and update the Comp Plan to reflect the nature and intensity 

of acquisition, development, maintenance and operation of the recreation and park system. 

 
2. Proposed amendments that are the same or substantially-similar to an amendment proposed during 

the last three amendment cycles are not eligible for consideration, except in certain cases due to 
geographic expansion by the City (see CMC 14.25.040(3)).  Has the same or a substantially-similar 
amendment been proposed during the last three annual amendment cycles?     XNo       □  Yes 

 
   If yes, how has geographic expansion necessitated the proposed amendment? 
 
___________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
3. Does the proposed amendment raise any policy or land-use issues that are more appropriately 

addressed by an ongoing work program approved by the City Council?   XNo       □  Yes 
 
   Please explain: 
 
___All policy and land-use issues contained in the amendment are the result of the 2009-2010 work plan 

and the PROS Plan.  Policies have already been approved by the City Council by virtue of Council 

adoption of the PROS Plan.  The policies now need to be incorporated into the Comp 

Plan._____________________ 

 
4. Explain how the proposed amendment addresses significantly changed conditions since the last time 

the pertinent comprehensive plan map or text was amended.  “Significantly changed conditions” are 
those resulting from unanticipated consequences of an adopted policy, or changed conditions on the 
subject property or its surrounding area, or changes related to the pertinent comprehensive plan map 
or text; where such change has implications of a magnitude that need to be addressed for the 
comprehensive plan to function as an integrated whole.   

 
It has been over seven years since the Parks and Community Services Element was updated.  Since that time the 

city population has grown by 2,790, a 19% increase.  Areas with parks have been annexed, including Jenkins Creek 

Park, Covington Community (180th/240th) Park and the Aquatic Center.  Park lands within and outside the city 

have been acquired.  The PROS Plan assessed progress, reviewed goals, and updated policies to reflect current 

conditions.  This amendment will incorporate the updated information in the Comp Plan.                   

Rev. 11/10  
R:\rhart\Public\2011 Comp Plan Amendment Docket, Instructions & Applications\Comp Plan Amendment Docket Application 2011 Page 3 of 4 109 of 171



 

 

____________________________________________________ 

 
   

 

Rev. 11/10  
R:\rhart\Public\2011 Comp Plan Amendment Docket, Instructions & Applications\Comp Plan Amendment Docket Application 2011 Page 4 of 4 

5. Explain how the proposed amendment is consistent with: 
 
(a) The vision, goals, and policies of the comprehensive plan, and other goals and policies of the City: 
 
   Our vision is for an “Unmatched quality of life.”  Our mission calls on the City to “preserve and 

foster a strong sense of community.”   And our goals include providing “parks and recreation...that 

emphasize and meet the needs of youth and families.”  A thriving recreation and park system is essential 

to delivering our vision, mission and goals.  The parks element is deemed in Ch. 1 of the Comp Plan as 

“necessary to achieve this Vision.”  Updating the parks element with information developed for the PROS 

Plan keeps the Comp Plan relevant given the changed conditions over the last seven years.            

 
(b) The Countywide Planning Policies, the Growth Management Act, State Environmental Policy Act 

(SEPA), the Washington Administrative Code, and other applicable state and federal laws.  
 
  This is an update of an existing element of the Covington Comprehensive Plan and will be consistent 

with the above required laws and plans .                                             

                                                                         

  

DESCRIBE HOW PROPOSAL MEETS SELECTION / DECISION CRITERIA (CONT’D.) 

COSTS & BENEFITS / ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
1. Describe the effects of the proposed amendment in terms of costs and benefits to the public, both 

monetary and non-monetary. 
   Aside from staff time, there aren’t any substantial costs associated with updating the parks element.  

However, there are significant public benefits by directing staff towards implementing the highest priori-

ties determined through the public engagement process of the PROS Plan and then incorporated into the 

Comp Plan.                                                                                                                 

 
2. Describe and/or attach any studies, research information, or further documentation that will support 

this proposal. 
 
   Covington Parks, Recreation and Open Space (PROS) Plan, adopted by City Council May 25, 2010 .    

                                                                          

 

I have reviewed the Comprehensive Plan Amendment Instruction Guide and Timeline, and certify that the 
information provided on this application is true and correct. 

  
 

                                                                         
                                   Applicant’s/Agent’s Signature                                    Date 
 
 
Please note: If this is a site-specific amendment proposal, all affected property owners must complete, sign, 
and have notarized a Property Owner Declaration. 

CERTIFICATION / SIGNATURE 

110 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 1 
 
 

6.0 PARKS AND RECREATION ELEMENT  

6.1 Introduction 
The purpose of the Parks and Recreation Element is to provide 
goals and policies that guide the acquisition, development and 
management of parks, natural areas, trails and recreation facilities 
and programs for the City of Covington. This Element is divided 
into seven sections to address planning context, service standards, 
community needs, goals and policies, and implementation.  

The Parks and Recreation Element is derived from the community 
planning process and analysis used to develop the 2010 Parks, 
Recreation and Open Space (PROS) Plan, which is a companion 
document to this Element and is incorporated herein by reference. 
It provides an inventory of park and recreation facilities and 
programs in Covington; outlines services standards for parks and 
facilities; identifies near-term community recreation demand; and 
presents a strategy for providing additional facilities and programs 
to meet the needs of the City’s residents and visitors.  

6.2 Planning Context 

This section discusses legislative directives (including the GMA 
and the CPP) as well as the Parks and Recreation Element’s 
relationship to other Comprehensive Plan elements and other 
community plans.  

6.2.1 Legislative Directives 

Growth Management Act 
While the Parks Element is considered an optional element under 
the GMA, park and recreation facilities are required to be included 
in the mandatory capital facilities plan element. The Act identifies 
13 broad planning goals to guide the development of 
comprehensive plans and development regulations (codified in 
RCW 36.70A). Of these, three goals directly influence the 
development and implementation of the City’s parks, recreation 
and open space programs. 

ATTACHMENT 5

111 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 2 
 
 

• Retain open space, enhance recreational opportunities, 
conserve fish and wildlife habitat, increase access to natural 
resource lands and water, and develop parks and recreation 
facilities. (RCW 36.70A.020(9)) 
• Protect the environment and enhance the state’s high 
quality of life, including air and water quality, and the 
availability of water. (RCW 36.70A.020(10)) 
• Identify and encourage the preservation of lands, sites, and 
structures, that have historical or archaeological significance. 
(RCW 36.70A.020(13)) 

This Parks and Recreation Element aims to meet the intent of the 
requirements outlined in the GMA and provide a clear direction 
toward the protection and expansion of recreation opportunities for 
the citizens of Covington. 

Countywide Planning Policies 
The King County Countywide Planning Policies state that an open 
space system should be provided and that physical and visual 
access to rivers, lakes, and streams should be protected throughout 
the county. The Parks, Open Space and Cultural Resources chapter 
of the King County Comprehensive Plan makes significant 
references to the King County Park, Recreation, and Open Space 
Plan adopted in 2004 and outlines 32 policy statements pertaining 
to the provision of regional parks, natural areas and resource lands. 
The plan notes the need for cooperation, coordination and 
partnerships with public agencies, private groups and individuals 
to develop the regional parks and open space system. 

6.2.2 Relationship to Other Comprehensive Plan Elements 
The vision, goals, policies and recommendations of the Parks and 
Recreation Element have all been coordinated with, and are 
supportive of, the framework that has been established in 
Covington’s Comprehensive Plan. This Element not only provides 
for the recreational needs of Covington’s residents, but also is 
supportive of a broader network of regional greenspace and trails 
to surround the community. 

The Parks and Recreation Element functions in concert with the 
Environmental Element by establishing policies for the acquisition, 
development and management of City-owned natural areas. The 
Land Use Element is supported through policies aimed at the 
continued provision of facilities and services to support anticipated 
growth. In addition, the Parks and Recreation Element establishes 

112 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 3 
 
 

policies for the coordination of funding and level of service 
requirements set forth in the Capital Facilities Element.  

6.2.3 Relationship to Other Parks and Recreation Plans 
In preparing the Parks and Recreation Element, the park, trail and 
open space systems of the City of Kent, Maple Valley and King 
County were considered. The planning direction established by 
Washington’s Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation 
Planning (SCORP) program and RCW 36.70 also provided a 
regional basis for the Parks and Recreation Element. In addition, 
several planning documents and studies have been prepared since 
Covington incorporated in 1997 that have influenced parks and 
recreation service in the City. A summary of each of these is listed 
below.  

2006 Covington Parks and Recreation Department Strategic Plan 
This strategic plan is based in the Parks and Recreation 
Department’s mission, vision and values and has three major 
purposes: present a long-term vision of success to direct planning 
and management efforts; prioritize projects to focus funding and 
budgeting; develop a management process that considers existing 
commitments when new requests and initiatives are presented.  

2006 Community Forestry Plan 
This draft plan includes the City’s tree ordinance, tree 
establishment and maintenance procedures, a park and open space 
tree inventory and a 2007-2013 action plan. The Arbor Day 
program and the annual application to the Tree City USA 
membership program are highlighted as part of the educational 
component of the action plan.  

2003 Arts Comprehensive Plan 
This 6-year plan outlines the goals, objectives and performance 
measures for the Arts Commission and the Parks Department. The 
plan promotes the use and appreciation of the arts in the City’s 
activities and facilities, while assisting the City in meeting the 
planning requirements for potential funding sources.  

2002 Comprehensive Recreation Program Plan 
The plan outlines a specific focus for city recreation services and 
identifies key recreation policies and practices to facilitate service 
delivery. The plan lists the vision, guiding principles, goals, 

113 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 4 
 
 

implementation strategies and a pricing policy for recreational 
programming.  

6.2.4 Community Vision for Parks & Recreation 
The future vision for Covington’s park and recreation system is 
summarized as follows:  

• Covington is responsive to community needs. The City will 
establish specialized recreation services and acquire additional 
parkland to meet the needs of its growing and diverse 
community. Partnering with other agencies, Covington will 
pursue opportunities and innovative solutions for new facilities 
and inclusive access to services. 
• Covington promotes active lifestyles, personal fitness and a 
greater sense of place and community. Through joint 
marketing efforts and partnership development with regional 
health and fitness providers, Covington will strive to be one of 
the healthiest cities in Washington. 
• Covington is a walkable community with an expanded trails 
network connecting parks and natural areas with 
neighborhoods and downtown. This includes a comprehensive 
system of on-road bicycle routes as well as off-road trails, so 
people have alternative transportation options and access to 
passive recreation opportunities for wellness and exploration.  
• Safe, attractive, well-kept parks and natural areas will be a 
key contributor to the city’s health and economic prosperity. 
Community outreach and education will build awareness of the 
benefits of parks, trails and recreation, along with encouraging 
residents to participate in improving their park system. 

6.2.5 Planning Area Description 
The City of Covington is situated in King County, between the 
cities of Kent and Maple Valley and maintains a modest system of 
neighborhood and community parklands, along with providing an 
aquatic center and aquatics programming. Additionally, a 
significant number of small, private pocket parks and greenspaces 
have been added throughout the City as a result of significant new 
residential development over the past ten years.  

Covington’s landscape character includes rolling foothills divided 
by three major creek drainages: Soos Creek, Little Soos Creek and 
Jenkins Creek. These drainage courses and forested slopes are 
among some of Covington’s most striking features. With the 
exception of the commercial town center, most of the community 
retains natural greenbelts, and the vegetation and topography of 

114 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 5 
 
 

these greenspaces offer a variety of recreational, aesthetic and 
educational opportunities which serve as the context for the Parks 
and Recreation Element.  

6.3 Park System Definitions and Standards 

This section provides information for adopted service standards 
and describes the following park classifications within the City:  

• Community parks  
• Neighborhood parks  
• Pocket Parks 
• Natural Areas & Greenspaces 
• Trails & Bikeways 
• Special Facilities 

6.3.1 Community Parks 
Community parks are larger sites developed for organized play, 
contain a wider array of facilities and, as a result, appeal to a more 
diverse group of users. Community parks are generally 20 to 50 
acres in size, should meet a minimum size of 20 acres when 
possible and serve residents within a 1-mile radius of the site. In 
areas without neighborhood parks, community parks can also serve 
as local neighborhood parks.  

In general, community park facilities are designed for organized or 
intensive recreational activities and sports, although passive 
components such as pathways, picnic areas and natural areas are 
highly encouraged and complementary to active use facilities. 
Since community parks serve a larger area and offer more facilities 
than neighborhood parks, parking and restroom facilities are 
provided. Community parks may also incorporate community 
facilities, such as community centers, senior centers or aquatic 
facilities.  

6.3.2 Neighborhood Parks 
Neighborhood parks are small park areas designed for unstructured 
play and limited active and passive recreation. They are generally 
3 to 5 acres in size, depending on a variety of factors including 
neighborhood need, physical location and opportunity, and should 
meet a minimum size of 2 acre in size when possible.  

Neighborhood parks are intended to serve residential areas within 
short walking distance (up to ½-mile radius) of the park and should 

115 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 6 
 
 

be geographically distributed throughout the community. Access is 
mostly pedestrian, and park sites should be located so that persons 
living within the service area will not have to cross a major arterial 
street or other significant natural or man-made barrier, such as 
ravines and railroad tracks, to get to the site. Additionally, these 
parks should be located along road frontages to improve visual 
access and community awareness of the sites. 

Generally, developed neighborhood parks include amenities such 
as pedestrian paths, picnic tables, benches, play equipment, a 
multi-use open field for youth soccer and baseball, sport courts or 
multi-purpose paved areas, landscaping and irrigation. Restrooms 
are not provided due to high construction and maintenance costs. 
Parking is also not usually provided; however, on-street, ADA 
accessible parking may be included. 

6.3.3 Pocket Parks 
Pocket parks are very small and serve a limited radius (up to ¼-
mile) from the site; they provide passive and play-oriented 
recreational opportunities. Examples of pocket parks can include a 
tot lot with play equipment such as a climber, slide or swings; a 
viewpoint; or waterfront access areas such as at street ends. A 
small urban plaza or civic recognition project may also be 
considered a pocket park. Parking is not provided at pocket parks, 
although lighting may be used for security and safety.  

6.3.4 Natural Areas & Greenspaces 

Natural areas 
Natural areas are those which are preserved to maintain the natural 
character of the site and are managed to protect valuable ecological 
systems, such as riparian corridors and wetlands, and to preserve 
native habitat and biodiversity. In managing for their ecological 
value, these natural areas may contain a diversity of native 
vegetation that provides fish and wildlife habitat and embodies the 
beauty and character of the local landscape. Low-impact activities, 
such as walking, nature observation, and fishing are allowed, 
where appropriate, and horseback riding is also permitted on 
certain sites. 

Greenspaces 
Greenspaces are passive-use open spaces and turf areas without 
developed amenities or structured functions.  

116 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 7 
 
 

6.3.5 Trails & Bikeways 

Trails 
Trails are non-motorized transportation networks separated from 
roads. Trails can be developed to accommodate multiple uses or 
shared uses, such as pedestrians, in-line skaters, bicyclists and 
equestrians. Trail alignments aim to emphasize a strong 
relationship with the natural environment and may not provide the 
most direct route from a practical transportation viewpoint.  

Bikeways 
Bikeways are different than trails in that they are within road 
rights-of-way and their principal focus is on safe and efficient 
transportation routes. Bikeways serve distinctly different user 
groups than trail users. Typical bikeway user groups would include 
bicycle commuters, fitness enthusiasts and competitive athletes. 
Their emphasis is on speed, which can create conflicts with 
recreation-type trails and their respective user groups.  

6.3.6 Special Facilities 
Special facilities include single-purpose recreational areas such as 
skateparks and display gardens, along with community centers, 
aquatic centers and public plazas in or near the downtown core. 
Additionally, publicly-accessible sport fields and play areas of 
public schools are classified as special facilities; while they often 
serve as proxies to public parks, school sites have restricted 
daytime access and offer limited recreational use during non-
school hours.  

6.3.7 Service Standards 
Service standards for park facilities are one recognized method of 
expressing the quantity of recreation service provided for a given 
level of demand. It is represented as a ratio of quantity versus 
demand, and it is commonly expressed as a number of acres or 
miles of facilities per a given population, such as 3 acres of 
neighborhood park per every 1,000 people or 0.75 miles of trail per 
1,000 people.  

Table 6.1 shows the adopted service standards for parks and 
recreational facilities, including trails, in Covington. It is important 
to bear in mind that the suggested standards are an expression of 
minimum acceptable facilities for the citizens of Covington. The 
service standards are a starting point for local level of service 
assessments. Only the four (4) service standards that will be 

117 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 8 
 
 

adopted for the purposes of funding in Chapter 10 (Capital 
Facilities Element) are presented in the section below.  

Table 6.1.  Parks & Recreation Service Standards  

6.4 Park Inventory and Facilities 

This section provides a summary inventory and overview of 
Covington’s existing public and private developed parks, trails, 
and recreational facilities.  

Covington provides nearly 170 acres of public parkland and 
natural areas distributed among 24 city-owned sites. A number of 
other public and private open spaces exist throughout Covington 
and add to the City’s recreation resources. 

The major non-city, public open space is Soos Creek Park, a 731-
acre regional park which partially lies within the western edge of 
the City's boundaries. This park forms a greenbelt that separates 
Covington from Kent and includes the Soos Creek Trail, a 1.4-mile 
multi-purpose trail with parallel equestrian trail. Lake Meridian 
Park, operated by the Kent Parks Department, is located 
immediately west of Soos Creek Park and is also heavily used by 
Covington residents.  

Covington residents are also served by several small parks 
operated by homeowner associations as private parks. The largest 
privately-owned, publicly-accessible open space is Camp 
McCullough, a 38-acre Christian campground, located on the 
western shore of Pipe Lake.  

Schools of the Kent and Tahoma School Districts provide 
additional open space and active recreation opportunities for area 
youth with athletic fields, tennis courts, basketball courts and 
playgrounds. Since the City does not own or operate any athletic 

 Classification Size Guideline Proximity Guideline Service Standard

Community Parks 
20-50 acres;   20-acre 

minimum desired
up to 1-mile radius 5 acres / 1,000

Neighborhood Parks
3-5 acres;   2-acre 
minimum desired

up to 1/2-mile radius

Pocket Parks NA up to 1/4-mile radius

Natural Areas & Greenspace NA NA 6 acres / 1,000

Trails & Bikeways NA NA 0.75 miles / 1,000

Neighborhood and pocket parks are combined for a service standard of 3 acres per 1,000 residents.

3 acres / 1,000

118 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 9 
 
 

fields at the present, individual sports leagues work with each 
school district via use and maintenance agreements to facilitate 
practice and game play for local youth sport teams.  

Table 6.2 summarizes the existing parks and facilities inventory by 
park type. The maps on the following pages (Figures 6.1 & 6.2) 
identify public parks, trails and natural areas managed by the City 
of Covington. A detailed inventory and assessment of existing 
parks, natural areas and recreational facilities is contained in the 
PROS Plan.  

Table 6.2.  Park System Inventory by Type (Summary) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Type Number of Sites Acreage

Community Parks 2 51.98

Neighborhood Parks 10 68.95

Public, City-owned 3 4.46

Private 7 64.49

Pocket Parks 11 5

Public, City-owned 1 0.39

Private 10 4.61

Natural Areas & Greenspace 30 182.4

Public, City-owned 16 109.75

Private 14 72.65

Special Facilities 3 39.56

Public, City-owned 2 1.41

Private 1 38.15

County 5 276.5

Schools 8 77.9

Total Acreage 702.29

119 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 10 
 
 

Figure 6.1.  Existing City-owned Parks and Natural Areas 

 

 

[ Map to be inserted -- Page left intentionally blank ]

120 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 11 
 
 

Back of Figure 6.1. 

 
 

[ Page Left Intentionally Blank ] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

121 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 12 
 
 

Figure 6.2.  Existing Trails, Bikeways and Paths 

 

 

[ Map to be inserted -- Page left intentionally blank ]

122 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 13 
 
 

Back of Figure 6.2. 

 
 

[ Page Left Intentionally Blank ] 

 

 

 

 

 

123 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 14 
 
 

6.5 Needs Assessment 

This section summarizes the core needs resulting from a review of 
the park system, community feedback and stakeholder input. A 
summary of level of service (LOS) measurements for park and trail 
facilities is also provided.  

6.5.1 Parks & Natural Areas  
A gap analysis of the park system was conducted to examine and 
assess the current distribution of parks throughout the City. The 
analysis reviewed the locations and types of existing facilities, land 
use classifications, transportation/access barriers and other factors 
as a means to identify preliminary acquisition target areas. The gap 
analysis showed that much of the city lacks reasonable access to 
public parkland, with significant gaps in the west-central and 
eastern areas of the City. A total of nine potential acquisition areas 
were identified and discussed in more detail in the PROS Plan. 

The greatest documented need is for additional community park 
sites to provide the land base for a blend of passive and active 
recreation opportunities, such as sport fields, picnicking and 
walking. The City should consider an acquisition along Pipe Lake 
to provide for these recreational needs and to also provide water 
access. Secondarily, new neighborhood parks are needed to 
improve overall distribution and equity, while promoting 
recreation within walking distance of residential areas. Also, the 
need for an urban plaza in the downtown core was identified, as 
was the need for the acquisition of natural area to connect current 
City ownership south of Jenkins Creek Park. 

Regarding park development, the planned construction of the 
Covington Community Park will provide needed recreation 
opportunities and improve the City’s level of service. The 
redevelopment and renovation of Jenkins Creek Park as a second 
community park serving the City is also a noted priority. Although 
many Covington residents benefit from access to private, 
homeowner parks, the City should remain committed to 
developing additional neighborhood parks, especially for those 
residents not affiliated with private park amenities.  

6.5.2 Sport Fields & Sport Courts 
The City currently does not provide youth athletic programs, but it 
works in support of the various youth leagues and organizations 
with regard to field access and broad dialogue about long-term 
needs and facility planning. A significant deficit of sport fields 

124 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 15 
 
 

exists for local practice and game play, as well as for quality 
tournament play. To help address this need, the City should 
continue to facilitate discussions with area leagues and staff from 
Maple Valley and Black Diamond for the purposes of field 
planning and coordination, addressing geographic proximity of 
fields to the player base and for strategizing about long-term 
financing opportunities. In addition to the needs of the existing 
leagues, field demands exist for rugby, football and lacrosse which 
also should be considered. 

Aside from field sport needs, a current deficiency and limited 
distribution of sport courts exist. School sites provide limited 
access to basketball courts, and no public tennis or volleyball 
courts exist within the City. 

6.5.3 Trails 
Currently many of the existing bicycle and pedestrian trails are 
limited in length, and few connect to the regional trail network, 
schools, parks or other key destinations. The pathway system is 
further hindered by physical barriers, such as SR-18, which bisects 
the City. The PROS Plan identifies the development of several trail 
segments and corridors in an effort to create a robust trail network 
that provides logical connections to key destinations and are 
convenient for the community to use. In support of an expanded 
trail network, the City should continue to pursue the purchase or 
dedication of access easements or greenspace corridors to facilitate 
linkages with existing trail segments.  

6.5.4 Recreation Facilities & Programming 
Community events, fitness programs and educational classes were 
ranked as the most desired programming options. While the City 
participates in Covington Days and other community events, such 
as the tree lighting and run/walk events, the City should consider 
incremental growth in recreation services to focus on programs not 
currently offered by local or regional providers, such as health and 
fitness education for youth and fall prevention programs for 
seniors. As the City considers offering more events, it should seek 
to share costs with private sponsors and develop a series of 
seasonal activities.  

Past discussions regarding the development of a community 
recreation center were also reviewed in light of current community 
attitudes and potential operational challenges. One option includes 
the expansion of the Covington Aquatic Center. While this center 
can accommodate a second story for a fitness room, it would not 

125 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 16 
 
 

be large enough to accommodate extensive recreation 
programming or a teen center.  

Recent discussions by city officials have expanded the concept of a 
recreation center to discuss the potential of a multi-jurisdictional 
facility to support residents of Covington, Maple Valley and Black 
Diamond. Such a facility would be jointly funded by the cities 
and/or require voter support from the wider area. Given the interest 
in recreation facility space for programming, it is recommended 
that an additional review of alternatives for providing recreation 
center “services” be performed, while addressing the initial 
financial considerations, understanding and modeling user demand 
and analyzing options for facility and program cost recovery.  

6.5.5 Repair, Renovation & Safety Projects 
A major theme from community planning process for the PROS 
Plan was that the maintenance and upkeep of public parklands is 
paramount to residents’ use and enjoyment of the facilities. 
Covington residents are keenly interested in the renovation of their 
parks and natural areas system. The desire for better and more 
consistent maintenance of parks and facilities, along with a variety 
of suggestions for specific site upgrades and enhancements 
suggests that the City’s park system must improve its facilities to 
establish the respect and patronage of its citizens. Several 
renovation projects are noted in the Capital Facilities Plan, with 
special attention toward improvements at Jenkins Creek Park.  

6.5.6 Level of Service Assessment  
A level of service (LOS) assessment was conducted as a means to 
understand the distribution of parkland acreage and trails by 
classification and for a broader measure of how well the City is 
serving its residents with access to these recreation amenities. 
Using the service standards discussed above, Table 6.3 illustrates 
the current and projected levels of service for parkland, natural 
areas and trails for Covington. 

 

 

 

 

 

126 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 17 
 
 

Table 6.3:  Current & Projected Levels of Service by Park Classification  

The current level of service for community parks is 2.9 acres per 
1,000 residents, which includes the undeveloped properties of the 
Covington Community Park and Jenkins Creek. The current deficit 
of 37 acres is expected to grow to approximately 50 acres by 2020. 
A small current deficit exists for neighborhood parks, which is 
expected to grow to approximately 20 acres. The current level of 
service for natural areas is meeting the standard, but it is also 
expected turn to a deficit in the coming 10 years.  

The current level of service indicates a deficiency of over 8 miles 
of pathways and over 6 miles of bikeways; however, the pathway 
system expansion projects listed in the Capital Facilities Plan will 
help ameliorate some of this projected deficit and create a dynamic 
network of on-street and off-street pathways linking major 
destinations throughout Covington.  

6.6 Goals and Policies 

The following section presents the goals and policy statements that 
have been developed through the community planning process for 
the PROS Plan. These statements have been derived by analyzing 
the strengths and weaknesses of the existing park system; input of 
Covington residents’ responses to the Parks Survey; review and 
feedback from the Parks and Recreation Commission; national and 
local recreation trends and issues; and from identifying 
opportunities for strategic progress during the next 5 to 10 years. 

6.6.1 Community Engagement 
PRG 1.0 Encourage meaningful public involvement in park and 

recreation planning and engage residents through 
department communications. 

 Facility Type Service Standard     

 Parks:

Community 5 acres / 1,000 39.7 ac. (36.9) ac. (49.7) ac.

Neighborhood & Pocket 3 acres / 1,000 52.0 ac. (13.6) ac. (21.3) ac.

Natural Areas & Greenspace 6 acres / 1,000 109.8 ac. 3.0 ac. (12.3) ac.

 Trails:

Trails 0.75 miles / 1,000 4.7 mi. (8.6) mi. (10.6) mi.

Bikeways 0.75 miles / 1,000 7.1 mi. (6.3) mi. (8.2) mi.

1 Assumes growth projection between current population of 17,785 and 2020 population of 20,335.

acres

miles

acres acres

miles miles

Existing Inventory
Current Surplus / 

(Deficit)
Projected Surplus / 
(Deficit) (2020) 1 

127 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 18 
 
 

PRP 1.1 Involve residents and stakeholders in system 
planning, park site facility design and 
recreation program development to solicit 
community input, facilitate project 
understanding and engender public support.  

PRP 1.2 Use a variety of methods and media to 
increase resident awareness about Parks 
and Recreation Department activities via 
community events, interpretive tours, 
presentations to neighborhood, homeowner 
and civic groups and other venues. 

PRP 1.3 Expand and update the city’s web site to 
enhance citizen communication, expand 
access to information and improve public 
outreach and marketing. 

PRP 1.4 Prepare and publish a comprehensive park 
and trail facilities map for online and print 
distribution to highlight existing and 
proposed routes and promoting Covington 
as an active-lifestyles community. 

PRP 1.5 Host special events, festivals, concerts and 
cultural programming to promote wellness 
and community identity, foster civic pride 
and promote tourism and the benefits of 
recreation. 

PRP 1.6 Expand community-based volunteer and 
stewardship development and improvements 
opportunities, such as planting and 
restoration activities, in conformance to 
established City standards.  

PRP 1.7 Conduct periodic joint sessions between the 
Parks and Recreation Commission, City 
Council and other commissions to improve 
coordination and discuss policy matters of 
mutual interest. 

6.6.2 Health, Wellness & Programming 
PRG 2.0 Establish a varied and inclusive suite of recreation 

programs that accommodate a spectrum of ages, 
interests and abilities. 

128 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 19 
 
 

PRP 2.1 Leverage City resources by forming and 
maintaining partnerships with other public, 
non-profit and private recreation providers 
to deliver recreation services and secure 
access to existing facilities (e.g. schools) for 
field sports and other community recreation.  

PRP 2.2 Emphasize service provision to children, 
teens, seniors, people with disabilities and 
other population groups with limited access 
to market-based recreation options. 

PRP 2.3 Explore partnership opportunities with 
regional healthcare providers and services, 
such as MultiCare, Valley Medical Center 
and the King County Health Department, to 
promote wellness activities, healthy 
lifestyles and communications about local 
facilities and the benefits of parks and 
recreation. 

PRP 2.4 Promote and expand special events and 
programming, such as summer programs 
and environmental education. Utilize the 
region’s parks, trails, waterfronts and 
recreation facilities as settings to provide 
and/or facilitate a wider array programs 
and activities. 

 PRP 2.5 Continue to foster the partnership with the 
Kent and Tahoma School Districts to utilize 
school sites to provide active recreation 
facilities. Explore opportunities to co-
develop facilities on school property or 
property adjacent to schools. 

PRP 2.6 Explore options with Maple Valley, Black 
Diamond and King County for the 
development of a joint community facility for 
recreation, fitness and leisure activities.  

PRP 2.7 Periodically undertake a comprehensive 
evaluation of existing recreation program 
offerings in terms of persons served, 
customer satisfaction, cost/subsidy and 
availability of similar programs via other 
providers. 

129 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 20 
 
 

PRP 2.8 Study and create cost recovery guidelines 
for existing and planned recreation 
programs and services. 

PRP 2.9 Coordinate with the Covington Art 
Commission to encourage participation in, 
appreciation of and education in the arts 
and to improve the capacity of local arts 
agencies in providing art programs that 
benefit community residents. 

6.6.3 Parks, Natural Areas & Trails 
PRG 3.0 Acquire and develop a high-quality, diversified system 

of parks, recreation facilities and open spaces that is 
attractive, functional, accessible and safe – providing 
equitable access to all residents. 

PRP 3.1 All city residents should live within one-half 
mile of a developed neighborhood park and 
one mile of a developed community park. 

PRP 3.2 Provide a combined service standard of 8 
acres per 1,000 resident-equivalents of 
developed neighborhood and community 
parks. 

PRP 3.3 Provide an overall parks and natural areas 
service standard of 14 acres per 1,000 
resident-equivalents.  

PRP 3.4 Preserve and protect parks and open space 
within Covington’s boundaries. Prepare and 
adopt a “no net loss” of public parks policy, 
such that the City will consider parkland 
losses only when converted parkland is 
replaced in equal to or better size and/or 
quality.  

PRP 3.5 Designate parks, recreational areas, trails 
and natural areas to be of local or regional 
significance if they contain significant 
recreation or cultural opportunities or 
facilities, unusual or special botanical 
resources, environmentally sensitive areas 
that serve a significant role or provide a 
significant function in the natural systems 
within the City, or public art and are 

130 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 21 
 
 

associated in a significant way with an 
historic event, structure or person with a 
significant effect upon the City, state or 
nation. 

PRP 3.6 Adopt plans, development and building 
regulations, and review procedures to 
protect locally or regionally significant 
parks, urban separators, and recreation and 
open space areas from adverse physical and 
environmental impacts caused by 
incompatible land uses in the vicinity of 
these resources. 

PRP 3.7 Develop and implement minimum design 
and development standards for park and 
recreation amenities within private 
developments to maintain minimally-
acceptable standards of development and to 
address community facility needs, equipment 
types, accessibility and installation 
procedures. 

PRP 3.8 Identify and protect areas of local or 
regional significance and increase and 
enhance public access to shoreline areas. 

PRP 3.9 Pursue low-cost and/or non-purchase 
options to preserve open space and 
greenbelts, including the use of conservation 
easements, current use assessment and 
development covenants. 

PRP 3.10 Actively plan and coordinate with King 
County, Kent, Black Diamond and Maple 
Valley for the acquisition of parks and open 
space within or in close proximity to the 
urban growth area.  

PRP 3.11 Encourage and support the participation of 
community-based or non-profit conservation 
organizations, which offer options and 
alternatives to development in the interest of 
preserving desirable lands as a public 
benefit.  

131 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 22 
 
 

PRG 4.0 Protect and manage the City’s environmentally-
sensitive lands, remnant open spaces and natural and 
cultural resources to highlight their uniqueness and 
local history.  

PRP 4.1 Retain as open space those areas having a 
unique combination of open space values, 
including the separation or buffering 
between incompatible land uses; visual 
delineation of the City or a distinct area or 
neighborhood of the City; aquifer recharge 
areas; floodwater or stormwater storage; 
stormwater purification; recreational value; 
aesthetic value; and educational value. 

PRP 4.2 Retain and protect as open space those 
areas that provide habitat for rare, 
threatened or endangered plant or wildlife 
species, may serve as a corridor for wildlife 
movement, and may include and encourage 
public use for wildlife interpretation and 
observation. 

PRP 4.3 Develop management plans for the City’s 
larger natural areas and greenspaces and 
facilitate community-based volunteer 
restoration. Plan for and manage the use of 
natural areas in coordination with the City’s 
Critical Areas Ordinance and other 
resource protection guidelines. 

PRP 4.4 Manage vegetation in natural areas to 
support or maintain native plant species, 
habitat function and other ecological 
values; remove and control non-native or 
invasive plants as appropriate. 

PRP 4.5 Coordinate with King County, Kent, Black 
Diamond and Maple Valley to explore 
opportunities to preserve and enhance the 
ecological function, habitat quality and 
recreational value of the Soos Creek, Little 
Soos Creek and Jenkins Creek corridors. 

PRP 4.6 Coordinate with other public agencies and 
private landowners for the protection of 
valuable natural resources and sensitive 

132 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 23 
 
 

lands through the purchase of development 
rights, easements or title and make these 
lands available for passive recreation, as 
appropriate. 

PRP 4.7 Recognize that designating private property 
for open space uses does not establish or 
promote any public access rights to such 
property. 

PRP 4.8 Revise and adopt the draft Covington 
Community Forestry Plan to articulate a 
long-term strategy for tree protection, urban 
forestry management and public education 
and outreach. 

PRP 4.9 Consider creating community-based 
volunteer and stewardship opportunities as 
a ways to inform and engage residents about 
urban forestry issues, such as tree planting, 
tree care and management and the benefits 
of urban trees. 

PRP 4.10 Analyze the City’s existing tree canopy 
cover, establish canopy cover goals and 
promote urban forestry programs in order 
to maintain healthy atmospheric conditions. 

PRP 4.11 Establish and promote a recognition 
program for the City’s Heritage Trees. 

PRP 4.12 Comply with the Evergreen Communities 
Act (RCW 35.105) and obtain and maintain 
Evergreen Community status. 

PRP 4.13 Maintain Tree City USA status. 

PRP 4.14 Promote the installation and management of 
street trees as an extension of urban habitat 
and providing green infrastructure benefits. 

PRG 5.0 Develop a high-quality system of shared-use park trails 
and bicycle & pedestrian corridors that connect 
significant local landscapes, public facilities, 
neighborhoods and the downtown core. 

PRP 5.1 Create a network of interconnected, shared-
use trails for walking, hiking and cycling to 

133 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 24 
 
 

promote connectivity between parks, 
neighborhoods and public amenities. 

PRP 5.2 Provide a trails service standard of 0.75 
miles per 1,000 resident-equivalents. 

PRP 5.3 Integrate the siting of proposed trail 
segments into the development review 
process. Require development projects 
along designated trail routes to be designed 
to incorporate the trail as part of the 
project. 

PRP 5.4 Work with local agencies, utilities and 
private landholders to secure trail 
easements and access to greenspace for trail 
connections. 

PRP 5.5 Require development projects along 
designated trail routes to be designed to 
incorporate the trail as part of the project. 
Sensitive area buffers within proposed 
subdivisions and short-subdivisions shall be 
widened to accommodate additional open 
space and a public easement for future 
trails. 

PRP 5.6 Designate publicly-owned trails and City-
dedicated easements on private lands as 
community trails and manage the use, 
maintenance and operation of each trail 
accordingly. 

PRP 5.7 Coordinate with Burlington Northern Santa 
Fe Railroad for a potential rail-with-trail 
opportunity. 

PRP 5.8 Coordinate with King County, Kent, Black 
Diamond and Maple Valley for the joint 
planning, development and maintenance of a 
regional pedestrian-bicycle trail system, to 
include linkages to the Soos Creek Trail, 
Lake Wilderness Trail, Cedar River Trail 
and the proposed SR-18 Trail. 

PRP 5.9 Address pedestrian safety and access across 
Kent-Kangley Road, SR-18 and the railroad 
tracks. 

134 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 25 
 
 

PRP 5.10 Provide trailhead accommodations, as 
appropriate, to include parking, wayfinding 
signage, restrooms and other amenities. 

6.6.4 Concurrency 
PRG 6.0 Ensure that new park and recreational services are 

provided concurrent with new development. 

PRP 6.1 New development shall provide funds or 
parkland for concurrent park development 
and maintenance. 

PRP 6.2 Require on-site (or nearby off-site) 
development of recreation facilities or 
appropriate and usable parkland in 
conjunction with the approval of any 
development project involving more than 20 
new dwelling units. The development of 
recreational amenities shall conform to the 
City’s minimum guidelines and the general 
needs outlined in this Plan. Fees in lieu of 
development may be accepted by the City if 
such mitigation is not practicable. 

PRP 6.3 Mixed use development involving more than 
20 new dwelling units in the downtown area 
shall be exempted from the requirement to 
develop on-site park, recreation or open 
space facilities. Instead, upon approval by 
the City, in lieu of fees may be accepted for 
such mixed-use developments, to be spent on 
designated park, recreation or open space 
resources within the City that serve the 
development. 

PRP 6.4 New commercial development shall be 
responsible for financing and providing 
downtown amenities such as parks, open 
spaces and public art. 

6.6.5 Management & Operations 
PRG 7.0 Provide a parks, trails and open space system that is 

efficient to administer and operate, while providing a 
high level of user comfort, safety, aesthetic quality and 
protection of capital investment. 

135 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 26 
 
 

PRP 7.1 Provide sufficient financial and staff 
resources to maintain the overall parks 
system to high standards.  

PRP 7.2 Maintain all parks and facilities in a manner 
that keeps them in safe and attractive 
condition; repair or remove damaged 
components immediately upon identification. 

PRP 7.3 When developing new facilities or 
redeveloping existing facilities, review and 
consider the projected maintenance and 
operations costs prior to initiating design 
development. Emphasize the maintenance, 
enhancement and renovation of existing 
parks prior to the development of new 
facilities.  

PRP 7.4 Formulate illustrative master plans for the 
development or redevelopment of each city 
park, as appropriate, to take maximum 
advantage of grant or other funding 
opportunities.  

PRP 7.5 Design and maintain parks, trails and 
facilities to offer universal accessibility for 
residents of all physical capabilities, skill 
levels and age. All facilities shall conform to 
the American with Disabilities Act (ADA) 
guidelines and requirements. 

PRP 7.6 Incorporate sustainable development and 
low impact design practices into the design, 
planning and rehabilitation of new and 
existing facilities. Prepare sustainability 
best management practices for grounds 
maintenance and operations. Consider the 
use of non-invasive, native vegetation for 
landscaping in parks and natural areas to 
minimize maintenance requirements and 
promote wildlife habitat and foraging.  

PRP 7.7 Standardize the use of graphics and signage 
to establish a consistent identity at all parks, 
trailheads and other facilities. 

136 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 27 
 
 

PRP 7.8 Standardize park furniture (trash cans, 
tables, benches, fencing, water fountains) to 
reduce inventory costs and improve 
appearance of, and maintenance consistency 
within, parks.  

PRP 7.9 Coordinate park planning, acquisition and 
development with other City projects and 
programs that implement the comprehensive 
plan. Seek partnerships with other public 
agencies and the private sector to meet the 
demand for cultural and recreational 
facilities in the City.  

PRP 7.10 Encourage volunteer park improvement and 
maintenance projects from a variety of 
individuals, service clubs, scouting 
organizations, churches and businesses. 

PRP 7.11 Periodically evaluate user satisfaction and 
numerical use of parks, facilities and 
programs; share this information with staff, 
Parks and Recreation Commission and City 
Council as part of the decision making 
process to revise offerings or renovate 
facilities.  

PRP 7.12 Pursue alternative funding options for the 
acquisition and development of parks and 
facilities, such as through private donation, 
sponsorships, partnerships, county, state 
and federal grant sources, among others. 
Place priority on maximizing grants and 
other external sources of funding, or inter-
agency cooperative arrangements, to 
develop the City’s park resources.  

PRP 7.13 Promote professional development 
opportunities that strengthen the core skills 
and engender greater commitment from 
staff, Commission members and key 
volunteers, to include trainings, materials 
and/or affiliation with the National 
Recreation & Park Association (NRPA) and 
the Washington Recreation & Park 
Association (WRPA).  

137 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 28 
 
 

6.7 Implementation 

The PROS Plan summarizes information found elsewhere in the 
Comprehensive Plan that is required as basic elements of a capital 
facilities plan under the GMA, including the inventory of existing 
facilities and a forecast of future needs. In addition, a table listing 
proposed new facilities with estimated acquisition and 
development costs can be found in the PROS Plan CIP. 
Additionally, park and recreation facilities are included in the 
Capital Facilities Element of the Comprehensive Plan (Chapter 
10). 

The total amount of funding to support the documented community 
demand for parks and recreation services exceeds the City’s 
current financial capacity. Since park projects and recreation 
services must compete for funds with many other vital City 
functions and services, the proposed park and trail capital 
improvement projects identified in the PROS Plan were prioritized 
according to high, medium and low priorities, in consideration of 
an analysis of the community’s needs, population and geographic 
distribution, project opportunities and potential funding. The 
PROS Plan also addresses various sources of park and recreation 
funding that are available to the City of Covington. Some of these 
sources are limited to particular types of projects or programs, 
while others are more general and may be applied to most any park 
project. 

A number of strategies exist to improve service delivery for the 
Covington Parks and Recreation Department; however, clear 
decisions must be made in an environment of competing interests 
and limited resources. A strong community will is necessary to 
bring many of the projects listed in the PROS Plan to fruition. 
Given the current operating and capital budgets for the 
Department, general fund and grants alone will be unable to 
support both land acquisition and development for the highest 
priority projects, and a future bond, levy and/or special assessment 
backed by the support of local voters may be necessary. 

6.7.1 Capital Facilities Planning 
The Capital Facilities Element summarizes information, provided 
in more detail in the PROS Plan, regarding the proposed park and 
trail facilities for Covington’s 6-year capital improvement projects. 
Figure 6.3 illustrates the locations of the capital improvement plan 
projects identified in the PROS Plan.  

 

138 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 29 
 
 

Figure 6.3.  Parks and Recreation Capital Improvements Plan Map 

 

 

[ Map to be inserted -- Page left intentionally blank ]

139 of 171



- DRAFT - 
Revised Chapter 

City of Covington Comprehensive Plan Parks and Recreation 

DRAFT – Fall 2010, ver1 Chapter 6, page 30 
 
 

Back of Figure 6.3. 

 
 

[ Page Left Intentionally Blank ] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

140 of 171



 

 

 A-430  

CITY OF COVINGTON 
Community Development Department 
16720 SE 271st Street • Suite 100 • Covington, WA 98042 
Phone: 253-638-1110 • Fax: 253-638-1122 
www.ci.covington.wa.us 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT APPLICATION 

Rev. 11/10  
R:\rhart\Public\2011 Comp Plan Amendment Docket, Instructions & Applications\Comp Plan Amendment Docket Application 2011 Page 1 of 4 

2011 Application Deadline: February 1, 2011 

 

 Docket Number:   CPA-2011-3          Application Date:  1-24-11    
□X City-initiated    □ Privately-initiated 

STAFF USE ONLY 

APPLICANT                     □ Primary Contact Person   

Name:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director  

Address:   16720 SE 271st St. Suite 100            

City/State/Zip:  Covington, WA 98042            

Phone:  (253) 638-1110        Fax:               

E-mail Address:  rhart@ci.covington.wa.us         

Signature:                               

AGENT                                □ Primary Contact Person  

Name:                                 

Address:                                

City/State/Zip:                           

Phone:                        Fax:               

E-mail Address:                           

Signature:                               

PROPERTY OWNER                                       

Name:     NA: Non-Site-Specific               

Address:                                

City/State/Zip:                           

Phone:                        Fax:               

E-mail Address:                           

Signature:                               

PROPERTY OWNER 2                                      

Name:                                 

Address:                                

City/State/Zip:                           

Phone:                        Fax:               

E-mail Address:                           

Signature:                               

TYPE OF COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT 
□  This is a site-specific amendment proposal. Complete site-specific information below.  

□X This is a non-site-specific amendment proposal.  Complete area-wide/textual amendment information below. 

□  This amendment proposal involves changes to development regulation text and/or tables and/or changes to the 
zoning map.  Complete a separate Application for Development Regulation and/or Zoning Map Amendment. 

Give street address or, if vacant, indicate lot(s), block, and subdivision OR tax lot number, access street and 
nearest intersection.  If proposal applies to several parcels, list the streets bounding the area. 
 

ADDRESS(ES):                                                                   
 
ASSESSOR’S PARCEL NUMBER(S):                         SITE AREA:                        
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION(S):                                                           

                                                                          
 

□ PROPOSED CHANGE TO FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION: FROM ________ (CURRENT) TO _______ (PROPOSED) 

□ PROPOSED CHANGE TO OFFICIAL ZONING MAP DESIGNATION: FROM ________ (CURRENT) TO ________ (PROPOSED) 

SITE-SPECIFIC AMENDMENTS 

ATTACHMENT 6

141 of 171



 

 
Page 2 of 4 

Rev. 11/10  
R:\rhart\Public\2011 Comp Plan Amendment Docket, Instructions & Applications\Comp Plan Amendment Docket Application 2011 

 

Chapter and section of comprehensive plan to be amended:  Downtown Element Ch. 4-Figure 4.5 and 
Transportation Element Ch. 5-Figure 5.7                                   
 
Indicate either conceptual or specific amendatory language.  Please be as specific as possible to aid in the 
evaluation of your proposal.  If specific changes are proposed, please indicate current language and 
proposed language. 
    Figure 4.5, which is the Town Center Street Type Map in the Downtown Element, is proposed for amendment 

by replacing the missing middle segment of the proposed roadway, 171st Ave SE, between SE 276th St. and SE 274th 

Place.  This segment completes the entire length of the proposed 171st Ave SE as the traditional pedestrian-

oriented “Main Street” within the new Town Center Zone.  Figure 5.7, which is the 20-Year Capital Improvement 

Plan Map for 2010-2029, is also proposed for amendment by replacing the missing middle segment of the proposed 

171st Ave SE between SE 276th St. and SE 274th Place.  This segment also completes the entire length of the 

proposed 171st Ave SE CIP project as the traditional pedestrian-oriented “Main Street” within the Town Center 

AREA-WIDE & TEXT AMENDMENTS 

An amendment may be considered for placement on the final docket under any one of the following 
circumstances.  Check the applicable box, and describe in detail how the proposed amendment complies 
with the criterion.  Attach additional sheets as necessary.  
 

□  If the proposed amendment is site-specific, the subject property is suitable for development in general 
conformance with adjacent land use and the surrounding development pattern, and with zoning standards 
under the potential zoning classifications. 
     NA-as proposed amendment is not site-specific                                    

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                         

  

 

□  State law requires, or a decision of a court or administrative agency has directed such a change.  
    NA-as the proposed amendment is not site-specific.                                  

                                                                         

                                                                         

  

 

□  There exists an obvious technical error in the pertinent comprehensive plan provision.  
   NA-as the proposal is not site specific.                                               

                                                                         

DESCRIBE HOW PROPOSAL MEETS DECISION CRITERIA 

142 of 171



 

 

                                                                          

                                                                         

DESCRIBE HOW PROPOSAL MEETS SELECTION / DECISION CRITERIA (CONT’D.) 

If none of the three conditions on p.2 apply, then the proposed amendment must meet all five of the 
following criteria.  Please answer the following questions, providing specific details and attaching 
additional sheets as necessary.  
 
1. Explain how the proposed amendment is appropriately addressed through the comprehensive plan and 

how it would be a public benefit to the City of Covington (i.e. enhances the public health, safety, and 
welfare).  

     The Comprehensive Plan Downtown and Transportation Elements vision statement, goals, policies, 

and text provide for a pedestrian-oriented “Main Street” within the new Town Center.  In the current 

Downtown & Transportation Elements the proposed 171st Ave SE, a Type I street, is the envisioned “Main 

Street”, and there is a small segment of the entire length that was omitted when this Downtown 

Element was adopted.  The Downtown Plan completed in 2009 called for the entire length of this street 

to be the pedestrian focus of the new Town Center.  In order to further the vision and goal of the 2009 

Downtown Plan, to provide predictability for future developers, to enhance the pedestrian nature of a 

true “Main Street”, and to provide guidance for determining design standards for any future 

development projects, the entire length of the proposed 171st Ave SE, “Main Street”, should have a 

similar designation to provide consistency for design and development.     

 

2. Proposed amendments that are the same or substantially-similar to an amendment proposed during 
the last three amendment cycles are not eligible for consideration, except in certain cases due to 
geographic expansion by the City (see CMC 14.25.040(3)).  Has the same or a substantially-similar 
amendment been proposed during the last three annual amendment cycles?     X□  No       □  Yes 

 
   If yes, how has geographic expansion necessitated the proposed amendment? 
 
The Proposed amendment has not been considered before.  This amendment is submitted at the request 

of the Planning Commission to align the Comp Plan maps with the vision of the Downtown Plan. 

 

3. Does the proposed amendment raise any policy or land-use issues that are more appropriately 
addressed by an ongoing work program approved by the City Council?   □  No       □  Yes 

 
   Please explain: 
       Neither of the proposed amendments to the Map Figures 4.5 or 5.7 raise such issues.     
 
4. Explain how the proposed amendment addresses significantly changed conditions since the last time 

the pertinent comprehensive plan map or text was amended.  “Significantly changed conditions” are 
those resulting from unanticipated consequences of an adopted policy, or changed conditions on the 
subject property or its surrounding area, or changes related to the pertinent comprehensive plan map 
or text; where such change has implications of a magnitude that need to be addressed for the 
comprehensive plan to function as an integrated whole.   

 
     Since the last time these Figures 4.5 and 5.7 in the Downtown and Transportation Elements were 

added to the Comp Plan, proposed developments in the Town Center have also changed, and the desire is 

to provide for a continuous uninterrupted pedestrian-oriented “Main Street” as the focus of the Town 

Center in order to meet the long-term vision of the City as identified in the Comprehensive Plan Policies. 

Rev. 11/10  
R:\rhart\Public\2011 Comp Plan Amendment Docket, Instructions & Applications\Comp Plan Amendment Docket Application 2011 Page 3 of 4 143 of 171



 

 

 
   

 

Rev. 11/10  
R:\rhart\Public\2011 Comp Plan Amendment Docket, Instructions & Applications\Comp Plan Amendment Docket Application 2011 Page 4 of 4 

5. Explain how the proposed amendment is consistent with: 
 
(a) The vision, goals, and policies of the comprehensive plan, and other goals and policies of the City: 
 
The Downtown Plan completed in 2009 called for the entire length of this street to be the pedestrian 

focus of the new Town Center.  In order to further the vision and goal of the 2009 Downtown Plan, to 

provide predictability for future developers, to enhance the pedestrian nature of a true “Main Street”, 

and to provide guidance for determining design standards for any future development projects, the 

entire length of the proposed “Main Street”, or 171st Ave SE, should have a similar designation to 

provide consistency for design and development.     

 

(b) The Countywide Planning Policies, the Growth Management Act, State Environmental Policy Act 
(SEPA), the Washington Administrative Code, and other applicable state and federal laws.  

 
The proposed changes outlined above are consistent with the Countywide Planning Policies, the Growth 

Management Act, SEPA & WAC, and other state & federal laws, as they follow directly the vision, goals, 

and policies in many related Elements of the Covington Comprehensive Plan, including the Land Use, 

Downtown, Transportation, and Public Facilities Element.                                 

DESCRIBE HOW PROPOSAL MEETS SELECTION / DECISION CRITERIA (CONT’D.) 

COSTS & BENEFITS / ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
1. Describe the effects of the proposed amendment in terms of costs and benefits to the public, both 

monetary and non-monetary. 
 The proposed changes to Figures 4.5, Town Center Street Type Map, in the Downtown Element and    

Figure 5.7 , 20-year CIP Map, in the Transportation Element, will assist the design of high quality, pedes-

trian-oriented streets, will aid in   programming future capital investments, and will ensure such road 

improvements are constructed either by the public, the private sector, or through a public/private part-

nership.  

 

2. Describe and/or attach any studies, research information, or further documentation that will support 
this proposal. 

 

 

I have reviewed the Comprehensive Plan Amendment Instruction Guide and Timeline, and certify that the 
information provided on this application is true and correct. 

  
 

                                                                         
                                   Applicant’s/Agent’s Signature                                    Date 
 
 
Please note: If this is a site-specific amendment proposal, all affected property owners must complete, sign, 
and have notarized a Property Owner Declaration. 

CERTIFICATION / SIGNATURE 

144 of 171



1 6
4T

H 
AV

E S
E

18
0 T

H 
AV

E S
E

SE COVINGTON-SAWYER RD

SE 272ND ST

SE WAX RD

COVINGTON WAY SE

164TH PL SE

0 390

Feet

TC:\projects\kcgis\client_services\Covington\09032
1:29,000

City of Covington

Type III

Downtown Street Types
Figure 4.5

Type IV

The information included on this map has been compiled by
Covington staff from a variety of sources and is subject to
change without notice.
Covington makes no representations or warranties, express
or implied, as to accuracy, completeness, timeliness, or
rights to the use of such information. This document is not
intended for use as a survey product. Covington shall not be
liable for any general, special, indirect, incidental, or consequential
damages including, but not limited to, lost revenues or lost profits
resulting from the use or misuse of the information contained on this map.
Any sale of this map or information on this map is prohibited except by
written permission of Covington.

October 2009

Type II
Type I

Pedestrian-oriented street within 66 ft  ROW, 30 ft of pavement, two driving lanes,
on-street parking and minimum 10 ft clear walkway.

Pedestrian and vehicular-oriented street within 86 ft of ROW, 30 ft of pavement, two driving lanes, on-street parking,
center landscaped median, accommodating bicycle lanes and minimum 8 ft clear walkway.

Landscaped boulevard within 100 ft of ROW, 35 ft of pavement, two driving lanes, center landscaped median,
accommodating bicycle lanes and minimum 15 ft clear walkway and amenity zone.

Major arterial roadway within 126 ft ROW, maximum 94 ft of pavement, four driving lanes, center median,
transit access lane, no on-street parking, 6 ft landscaped buffer and minimum 8 ft clear walkway.

Street Type Description

I

II

III

IV

ATTACHMENT 7

145 of 171



Lake
Meridian

Pipe Lake

C
H

F

G

E D

A

B

III
IV

I

II

0 980

Feet

TC:\projects\kcgis\client_services\Covington\09032
1:29,000

City of Covington

Capital Improvement Project Areas

20 Year Capital Improvement
Plan 2010 - 2029

Figure 5.7

Downtown Improvement Project Areas

The information included on this map has been compiled by
Covington staff from a variety of sources and is subject to
change without notice.
Covington makes no representations or warranties, express
or implied, as to accuracy, completeness, timeliness, or
rights to the use of such information. This document is not
intended for use as a survey product. Covington shall not be
liable for any general, special, indirect, incidental, or consequential
damages including, but not limited to, lost revenues or lost profits
resulting from the use or misuse of the information contained on this map.
Any sale of this map or information on this map is prohibited except by
written permission of Covington.

October 2009

Priority Project From To Description
A 180th Ave SE Ext. SE 267th Pl SE 272nd St Add 2 Through Lanes, Turn Lanes and Median
B SE 272nd St SE Wax Rd 192nd Ave SE Add 2 Through Lanes, Bike Lanes, Turn Lanes and Median
C SE 256th St 148th Ave SE 160th Ave SE Add 2 Through Lanes, Bike Lanes, Turn Lanes and Median
D SE Wax Rd Covington Way SE SE 278th Pl Re-align, Add Bike Lanes, Turn Lanes and Intersection Improvments
E Covington Way SE 168th Ave SE SE Wax Rd Add 2 Through Lanes, Bike Lanes, Turn Lanes and Median
F 180th Ave SE SE 261st St SE Wax Rd (North) Add Ped Overcrossing of SR18, Turn Lanes, Median and Bike Lanes, +2 Thru Lanes n/o SE 256th St
G SE 272nd St 160th Ave SE 164th Ave SE Add 2 Right Turn Lanes and Bike Lanes
H SE 256th St 168th Ave SE 180th Ave SE Add 2 Through Lanes, Bike Lanes, Turn Lanes and Median

ATTACHMENT 8

146 of 171



 A-431  

CITY OF COVINGTON 
Community Development Department 
16720 SE 271st Street • Suite 100 • Covington, WA 98042 
Phone: 253-638-1110 • Fax: 253-638-1122 
www.ci.covington.wa.us 

APPLICATION FOR DEVELOPMENT REGULATION 
AND/OR ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 2011 

Rev. 10/08  
Q:\Permit Services\Land Use\2009 Update\DRA & ZMA Application Page 1 of 4 

 

 Docket Number:    DRA-2011-1       Application Date:  1-25-11      
X□ City-initiated    □ Privately-initiated 

STAFF USE ONLY 

APPLICANT                    X□ Primary Contact Person   
Name:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
Address:    16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100              

City/State/Zip:  Covington, WA 98042                 

Phone: (253) 638-1110 Ext. 2226 Fax:                  

E-mail Address:  rhart@ci.covington.wa.us            

Signature:                               

AGENT                                □ Primary Contact Person  
Name:      (Same as Applicant)               
Address:                                

City/State/Zip:                           

Phone:                        Fax:               

E-mail Address:                           

Signature:                               

PROPERTY OWNER                                       
Name:         A variety of property owners in the down-

town zones of the City are affected by the change.                                          

Address:                                

City/State/Zip:                                                

Phone:                        Fax:               

E-mail Address:                           

PROPERTY OWNER 2                                      
Name:                                 

Address:                                

City/State/Zip:                           

Phone:                        Fax:               

E-mail Address:                           

Signature:                               

TYPE OF AMENDMENT 
 X□ This is a proposal to amend development regulation text or tables contained in the Covington Muncipal Code.   

Complete development regulation information below. 

  □  This is a proposal to amend the City’s zoning map. Complete zoning amendment information below.  

 

Chapter and section of Covington Municipal Code to be amended:     CMC 18.31.060 Downtown Zoning     
Districts Street Type Map                                                                                                            
 

1. Is the proposed amendment a minor correction (i.e. one that does not result in any substantive change 
to the content or meaning of a development regulation, such as a correction to punctuation or 
numbering or a typographical or technical error)?   

     X□ No      □ Yes   If yes, amendment proposal is exempt from the notice and hearing requirements of Chapter 14.27 
CMC and the Director may make a recommendation directly to the City Council.   

 

2. What are the reasons for requesting this change? 
 

The reason for the change is to fill in a missing segment of the proposed 171st AVE SE, in the design 

regulations, which is intended as a pedestrian-friendly “Main Street” according to the vision of the 

Downtown Plan & Zoning Study and the Downtown Element of the Comprehensive Plan.         

DEVELOPMENT REGULATION AMENDMENT 

 

ATTACHMENT 9

147 of 171



Page 2 of 4 
Rev. 10/08  
Q:\Permit Services\Land Use\2009 Update\DRA & ZMA Application 

 

PROPOSED CHANGE TO ZONE DESIGNATION: FROM ____NA__________ (CURRENT) TO ________________ (PROPOSED) 

SURROUNDING ZONE DESIGNATIONS:  EAST:         WEST:        NORTH:        SOUTH:        

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION: NA____________________________________________  

CURRENT LAND USE:  NA                                                                                                                     

 
If this is a site-specific zoning map amendment, complete the following property information.  Give street 
address or, if vacant, indicate lot(s), block, and subdivision OR tax lot number, access street and nearest 
intersection.  If proposal applies to several parcels, list the streets bounding the area. 
 

ADDRESS(ES):                                                                   
 
ASSESSOR’S PARCEL NUMBER(S):                                                       
 
SITE AREA:                 sq. ft. / acres (circle one) 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION(S):                                                           

                                                                         

                                                                         

                                                                          

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

DESCRIBE HOW PROPOSAL MEETS DECISION CRITERIA 
1.  Proposed amendments that are the same or substantially-similar to an amendment proposed during the 

last three years are not eligible for consideration, except in certain cases due to geographic expansion 
by the City (see CMC 14.27.030(3)).  Has the same or a substantially-similar amendment been 
proposed during the last three years?     X□  No       □  Yes 

 
   If yes, how has geographic expansion necessitated the proposed amendment? 
 

___________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

3.  Provide either conceptual or specific amendatory language.  Please be as specific as possible to aid in 
the evaluation of your proposal.   

There is no amendatory language to the text of the Downtown Development and Design Standards.  

The change involves amending the Street Type Map in CMC 18.31.060 in order to add a missing seg-

ment in the middle of the proposed 171st Ave SE, which is intended to become the new pedestrian-

oriented “Main Street” in the Covington Town Center.  (See attached map)                                               

______________                                                                                                                                                           

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

DEVELOPMENT REGULATION AMENDMENT (CONT’D.) 

148 of 171



2.  Explain how the proposed amendment is consistent with the goals, objectives, and policies of the 
comprehensive plan. 
The Comprehensive Plan Downtown and Transportation Elements vision statement, goals, policies, 

and text provide for a pedestrian-oriented “Main Street” within the new Town Center.  In the current 

Downtown & Transportation element the proposed 171st  Ave SE Type I street, which is the 

envisioned “Main Street”  There is a small segment of the entire length that was omitted when this 

Downtown Element was adopted.  The Downtown Plan completed in 2009 called for the entire length 

of this street to be the pedestrian focus of the new Town Center.  In order to further the vision and 

goal of the 2009 Downtown Plan, to provide predictability for future developers, to enhance the 

pedestrian nature of a true “Main Street”, and to provide guidance for determining design standards 

for any future development projects, the entire length of the proposed 171st Ave SE, “Main Street”, 

should have a similar designation to provide consistency for design and development.          _______ 

3.  Explain how the proposed amendment is consistent with the scope and purpose of the City’s zoning 
ordinances and the description and purpose of the zone classification applied for. 
The Town Center Zone has Street types identified in order to determine the level of design standards 

and criteria that will apply to future development.  A continuous street would best apply these 

consistent design standards along the entire length.  

4.  Explain how circumstances have changed substantially since the establishment of the current 
development regulation, zoning map or district to warrant the proposed amendment. 
Several development proposals have been entertained for the new Covington Town Center.  Thus, 

having a continuous pedestrian-oriented street along the proposed 171st Ave SE with the same design 

standards is beneficial to the new Covington Town Center.  Establishing a full-length street and 

restoring the continuous Type I pedestrian street along the entire length is advantageous to the 

vision of the TC and gives predictability to future developers.   

5.  Explain how the proposed zoning is consistent and compatible with the uses and zoning of surrounding 
property. 
Consistency of design standards and street types on the Street Type Map along the proposed “Main 

Street” or 171st Ave SE will provide for a more unified, pedestrian-friendly design within the Town 

Center and contribute to the overall vision of Council in line with the Downtown Plan & Zoning Study.    

6. Explain how the property that is the subject of the amendment is suited for the uses allowed in the 
proposed zoning classification. 
NA.  This is not a change in proposed uses, but a change in street type that only affects the design of 

buildings on the street frontage.                       __________________________________________ 

7. Explain how adequate public services could be made available to serve the full range of proposed uses 
in that  zone. 

The change in the Street Type Map to provide a continuous street along 171st Ave SE will not affect 

the type or scale of public services for the propose uses in the surrounding zones.  All public services 

will still have to be provided to any use on this street regardless of the Street Type.  

____________________________________________________________________________________________

DESCRIBE HOW PROPOSAL MEETS DECISION CRITERIA 

Page 3 of 4 
Rev. 10/08  
Q:\Permit Services\Land Use\2009 Update\DRA & ZMA Application 

149 of 171



________________________________________                                         

 
 

Rev. 10/08  
Q:\Permit Services\Land Use\2009 Update\DRA & ZMA Application Page 4 of 4 

COSTS & BENEFITS / ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
1. Describe the effects of the proposed amendment in terms of costs and benefits to the public, both 

monetary and non-monetary. 
There should be no monetary costs to the public or the local government. The benefits to the public will 

be a more pedestrian-friendly street frontage and public realm along the future “Main Street” in the Cov-

ington Town Center and a more consistent design of buildings including retail, office and residential 

uses._________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 2. Describe and/or attach any studies, research information, or further documentation that will support  

this proposal. 

The Downtown Plan and Zoning Study, completed in September, 2009, provides the vision, goals, and 

policies for a pedestrian-oriented Covington downtown and identifies 171st Ave SE as the primary “Main 

Street” in the new Town Center.  This change furthers that vision and goal. 

CERTIFICATION / SIGNATURE 
 

I have reviewed the Development Regulation/Zoning Map Amendment Instruction Guide, and certify that 
the information provided on this application is true and correct. 

  
 

                                                                         
                                   Applicant’s/Agent’s Signature                                    Date 
 
 
Please note: If this is a site-specific amendment proposal, all affected property owners must complete, sign, 
and have notarized a Property Owner Declaration. 

150 of 171



1 6
4T

H 
AV

E S
E

18
0 T

H 
AV

E S
E

SE COVINGTON-SAWYER RD

SE 272ND ST

SE WAX RD

COVINGTON WAY SE

164TH PL SE

0 390

Feet

TC:\projects\kcgis\client_services\Covington\09032
1:29,000

City of Covington

Type III

Map of Downtown Street Types

Design Standards:  Street Types and
Special Standards

Type IV

The information included on this map has been compiled by
Covington staff from a variety of sources and is subject to
change without notice.
Covington makes no representations or warranties, express
or implied, as to accuracy, completeness, timeliness, or
rights to the use of such information. This document is not
intended for use as a survey product. Covington shall not be
liable for any general, special, indirect, incidental, or consequential
damages including, but not limited to, lost revenues or lost profits
resulting from the use or misuse of the information contained on this map.
Any sale of this map or information on this map is prohibited except by
written permission of Covington.

October 2009

Type II
Type I

ATTACHMENT 10

151 of 171



ATTACHMENT 11

152 of 171



ATTACHMENT 12

153 of 171



Agenda Item 2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: August 9, 2011 
 
SUBJECT:   CONSIDER APPOINTMENTS TO OPENINGS ON THE PLANNING 

COMMISSION  
 
RECOMMENDED BY: Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
              
ATTACHMENTS:  See Interview Schedules and Applications provided separately. 

 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Deputy City Clerk  
 
EXPLANATION:   
Planning Commission – Seven Members: 

• Three positions open: 
 Two of the three open positions must be filled by applicants who reside inside of 

Covington city limits.  One applicant below. 
 One of the three open positions may be filled by an applicant residing outside of 

Covington city limits (but within three-mile radius).  Two applicants for one position 
below. 

 
Additional applicants residing inside Covington city limits will need to be sought as not enough 
applicants in this group to fill vacancies for residents. 

 
 Name of Applicant      Inside or Outside  
Joseph Cimaomo, Sr. (interviewed July 12)           Resides Outside Covington  
 
Sonia Foss (interviewed August 9)         Resides Outside Covington 
  (currently serving on Planning Commission – 1st term expires 08/31/2011) 
 
Paul Max (interviewed August 9)         Resides Inside Covington 
 (former Planning Commissioner 2006-2009) 
 
NOTE:  Ordinance No. 25-01 “Membership in the Planning Commission shall be limited to 
residents within the City; provided, however, at any given time the commission may consist of a 
maximum of two members who reside outside the City, but within a three-mile radius of the City 
limits.  No member shall serve longer than two consecutive terms.”   
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
Not appoint at this time and direct staff to continue to advertise for additional applicants to be 
considered for the open positions.   
 
 
 
 

154 of 171



CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  ____ Ordinance            Resolution       X     Motions            Other  
 

Councilmember ______________ moves, Councilmember ________________ 
seconds, to appoint ________________ to fill a position on the Planning 
Commission for an applicant residing inside Covington city limits with a term 
expiring August 31, 2015. 
 
Councilmember ______________ moved, Councilmember ________________ 
seconds, to appoint ________________ to fill a position on the Planning 
Commission for an applicant residing inside or outside Covington city limits 
(within three-mile radius) with a term expiring August 31, 2015. 
 

REVIEWED BY: Derek Matheson, City Manager  
 Richard Hart, Community Development Director 

155 of 171



Agenda Item 3 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: August 9, 2011 

 
SUBJECT:  CONSIDER PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION ON MEDICAL 

MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES AND COLLECTIVE GARDENS  
 
RECOMMENDED BY: Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 Richard Hart, Community Development Director  
  
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Memo from City Attorney to Planning Commission 
2. Proposed ordinance  

 
PREPARED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
 
EXPLANATION: 
The purpose of this agenda bill is to provide the City Council with research, analysis, and the 
Planning Commission’s recommendations regarding the Legislature’s recent changes to the 
state’s medical marijuana laws. The City Attorney has conducted extensive research on the 
implications for local governments and provided a memorandum to the Planning Commission 
(See Attachment 1) outlining her analysis and recommendation.   
 
The Planning Commission discussed this topic at its regular meeting on July 21, 2011, and 
recommended a twelve-month moratorium on the establishment, location, operation, licensing, 
maintenance, or continuation of medical marijuana dispensaries, production facilities, processing 
facilities, and collective gardens.  A moratorium would give the city time to monitor 
developments on the inherent conflict between federal and state law, as well as consider options 
for local regulation through mechanisms such as business licenses, land use regulations, and 
zoning.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Do not adopt a moratorium 
2. Provide alternate direction to staff 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Staff time 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:     X    Ordinance         Resolution     _   Motion     _   Other 

 
Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 
seconds, to adopt an ordinance declaring an emergency and adopting a 
twelve-month moratorium on the establishment, location, operation, 
licensing, maintenance, or continuation of medical marijuana dispensaries, 
production facilities, processing facilities, and collective gardens. 
 

REVIEWED BY: City Manager; City Attorney; Finance Director  

156 of 171



 

 

 

M E M O R A N D U M  

TO:  Covington Planning Commission 
FROM:  Sara Springer, City Attorney 
DATE:  July 14, 2011 
RE:   New Medical Marijuana Legislation & Recommendation 

The following is a very cursory overview and analysis of changes to state medical marijuana 
laws passed in the 2011 state legislative session and my recommendation to the planning 
commission for the city’s response to those changes.  

I. Background 

Initiative Measure No. 692, approved by the voters of Washington State on November 30, 
1998, and now codified as Chapter 69.51A of the Revised Code of Washington (RCW), creates 
an affirmative defense for qualifying patients to the charge of possession of marijuana, and 
provides that such patients can, as an alternative to growing marijuana for their own use, 
designate a designated provider who can provide medical marijuana to only one patient at a 
time. 
 
Many jurisdictions have recently seen the establishment of medical marijuana dispensaries 
within their boundaries that offer marijuana and marijuana products and claim to be operating 
as designated providers within the meaning of Chapter 69.51A RCW.  

II. New Medical Marijuana Legislation—E2SSB 5073 

Amended provisions to the medical marijuana regulations in Chapter 69.51A RCW were passed 
by the state legislature in the 2011 legislative session in Engrossed Second Substitute Senate Bill 
5073, and were partially approved by Governor Gregoire on April 29, 2011. The governor 
vetoed a significant portion of the legislation and expressed her reservations about certain 
provisions that involved state employees in activity that could be interpreted as in violation of 
federal laws. Specifically, all provisions in the legislation that provided for licensed producers, 
processors, and dispensers were vetoed by the governor; all provisions establishing a state 
registry for patients, providers, dispensers, and collective gardens were vetoed as well.  

The following is a general overview of key changes that will be incorporated into Chapter 
69.51A RCW as of July 22, 2011: 

Sara B. Springer 
SBS Legal Services, PLLC 

P.O. Box 15904  
Seattle, WA ∙ 98115 

206.313.2896 ∙ sara@sbslegalservices.com 

ATTACHMENT 1

157 of 171



P a g e  | 2 
 

 

• Up to ten qualifying patients may join together and have a collective garden with a 
maximum of forty-five plants.  

• A minimum of fifteen days must elapse when a qualified provider switches from being 
the provider for one qualifying patient to being the provider for a different qualifying 
patient. This appears to eliminate the argument used by most dispensaries to justify 
providing cannabis to multiple patients, one after another.  

• Nothing in the medical marijuana statutes require an employer with a drug-free 
workplace policy to accommodate medical use of cannabis.  

• There is a broad indemnity provision that protects local government officials for actions 
taken to enforce the laws regarding medical marijuana if they are made in good faith.  

• Cities, towns, and counties may adopt and enforce zoning requirements, business 
licensing requirements, health and safety requirements, and business taxes. All such 
regulations could apply to collective gardens, and could prohibit collective gardens from 
being sited next to or within a certain designated distance of other collective gardens, 
thus prohibiting large scale grow operations. 

III. Recommendation to Planning Commission 

Due to the governor’s veto of 36 of the 58 sections of the legislator’s bill, the law in its final 
form has inconsistencies and ambiguities. There currently is and will continue to be confusion 
regarding local regulation of medical marijuana collective gardens, dispensaries, processing 
facilities and production facilities, unless and until the laws are changed by the legislature or by 
citizen initiative. Most likely there will be significant differences in how various local 
governments approach these issues. Some jurisdictions are already facing legal challenges to 
their decision to not locate medical marijuana facilities. 

Previously, it was recommended to the city council that a moratorium was not imminently 
needed. Now that the legislature has adjourned and the resulting legislation has done little to 
resolve the uncertainty of the legal status of marijuana dispensaries and other facilities, it is my 
recommendation that the planning commission recommend to the city council to pass a one-
year moratorium on the zoning, licensing, or establishment of medical marijuana collective 
gardens, dispensaries, processing facilities, and production facilities. Such a moratorium is in 
line with the actions of numerous other jurisdictions and would allow the city time to consider 
zoning, licensing, and taxation regulations for medical marijuana collective gardens, 
dispensaries, processing facilities, and production facilities.  

Unless a zoning moratorium is imposed, medical marijuana collective gardens, dispensaries, 
processing facilities, and production facilities may seek to locate within the city while the city 
lacks the necessary tools to ensure that such activity is legal, that the location is appropriate, 
and that the reported secondary impacts of such facilities are minimized and mitigated.  

158 of 171



P a g e  | 3 
 

Under a one-year moratorium, the city would be required to establish a work program to 
address issues related to determining the legality of medical marijuana gardens, dispensaries, 
production facilities, and processing facilities, including but not limited to review of the pending 
dispute between state and federal law enforcement authorities regarding the legality of 
medical marijuana use under any circumstance. In the event that such uses are ultimately 
determined to be legal, the work plan should also review and research the most appropriate 
zoning districts in the city for such medical marijuana uses and develop related development 
regulations and performance standards applicable to medical marijuana uses in the city as may 
be necessary. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

159 of 171



1 of 5 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 08-11 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, WASHINGTON, DECLARING AN 
EMERGENCY AND ADOPTING A TWELVE MONTH 
MORATORIUM WITHIN THE CITY OF COVINGTON ON 
THE ESTABLISHMENT, LOCATION, OPERATION, 
LICENSING, MAINTENANCE, OR CONTINUATION OF 
MEDICAL MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES, PRODUCTION 
FACILITIES, PROCESSING FACILITIES, AND COLLECTIVE 
GARDENS; DEFINING TERMS; PROVIDING FOR A PUBLIC 
HEARING ON THE MORATORIUM; AUTHORIZING A 
WORK PLAN; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY. 

 
WHEREAS, Initiative Measure No. 692, approved by the voters of Washington State on 

November 30, 1998, and now codified as Chapter 69.51A of the Revised Code of Washington 
(RCW), creates an affirmative defense for qualifying patients to the charge of possession of 
marijuana, and provides that such patients can, as an alternative to growing marijuana for their 
own use, designate a designated provider who can provide medical marijuana to only one patient 
at a time; and 
 

WHEREAS, many jurisdictions have recently seen the establishment of medical 
marijuana dispensaries within their boundaries, which offer marijuana and marijuana products in 
exchange for donations and which claim to be operating as designated providers within the 
meaning of Chapter 69.51A RCW; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Washington State Department of Health has opined that “the law 
[current Chapter 69.51A RCW] does not allow dispensaries” and that it is “not legal to buy or 
sell marijuana,” but the Department of Health has left enforcement of the law to local officials; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, litigation is pending against several jurisdictions that have decided to 
oppose the location of such facilities within their boundaries; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Washington State legislature passed Engrossed Second Substitute Senate 
Bill (E2SSB) 5073, Medical Cannabis, that became effective on July 22, 2011; and 

 
WHEREAS, uncertainties and ambiguities exist regarding the meaning and enforcement 

of E2SSB 5073 because Governor Gregoire vetoed significant portions of the bill, creating a bill 
that fails to legalize and license medical marijuana dispensaries, production facilities, and 
processing facilities, but does now allow collective gardens and for cities to enact reasonable 
zoning, licensing, and taxation regulations regarding these uses; and 
 

WHEREAS, the governor’s veto message pertaining to E2SSB 5073, dated April 29, 
2011, explained that several sections of the bill were vetoed as a result of a letter from the U.S. 
Attorneys for Washington State that reiterated that marijuana possession, production, and 

ATTACHMENT 2

160 of 171



2 of 5 
 

distribution is a federal criminal offense and that state workers would not be immune to 
prosecution under federal law even if state law decriminalized the use, possession, and 
production of marijuana for medical purposes, therefore the governor was unwilling to place 
state workers at risk of federal prosecution for enforcing and following state law; and 

 
WHEREAS, though E2SSB 5073 allows medical marijuana collective gardens, the City 

of Covington currently has no licensing, zoning, or land use requirements that address collective 
gardens for medical marijuana production or that address medical marijuana production, 
processing, or dispensing facilities, should such dispensaries be determined to be authorized by 
E2SSB 5073; and 

 
WHEREAS, given the extreme uncertainty of the legal status of medical marijuana 

production facilities, processing facilities, and dispensaries under the current law, and given the 
legislature’s inaction on the subject and the strong possibility for the law to change yet again 
after the 2012 legislative session, the City requires time for a through legal review of the 
complicated legal framework that currently exists and is still evolving; and 

 
WHEREAS, given the limitations on city staff time and resources, it is not an efficient 

use of city staff time or resources to commence a planning process by staff and an introduction 
of materials to the Planning Commission until the legal issues surrounding the development of 
regulations for medical marijuana production, processing, and dispensing facilities, as well as 
collective gardens, are resolved; and 

 
WHEREAS, the planning process that occurs will need to consider complex zoning, 

licensing, and taxation regulations for collective gardens, and marijuana production, processing 
and dispensing facilities should they be deemed legal; and 

 
WHEREAS, once the City Council receives a recommendation from the Planning 

Commission it will need a reasonable period of time to consider the recommendations, conduct 
one or more public hearings, and adopt regulations related to the establishment and citing of 
medical marijuana collective gardens, and production, processing, and dispensing facilities 
should they be deemed legal; and 

 
WHEREAS, unless an emergency zoning moratorium is imposed, medical marijuana 

collective gardens and production, processing, and dispensing facilities may seek to locate within 
the City of Covington while the City lacks the necessary tools to ensure that such uses are legal, 
that the location is appropriate, and that the reported secondary impacts of such facilities, which 
include but are not limited to, invasion of the business, burglaries, robberies associated with the 
cash and drugs maintained on the site, unlawful use and distribution of marijuana for non-
medical purposes, and unlawful commercial marijuana growing operations, are minimized and 
mitigated; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that an emergency moratorium is necessary 

in order to protect the public interest, health, and safety until such time as the Council can act on 
a recommendation from the Planning Commission concerning the establishment and citing of 

161 of 171



3 of 5 
 

medical marijuana collective gardens, and production, processing, and dispensing facilities 
should they be deemed legal; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to RCW 35A.63.220, the city may impose land use and 

development moratoria to be in effect for a period of up to six (6) months, but may be effective 
for up to one year if a work plan is developed for related studies providing for such a longer 
period; 

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 
WASHINGTON, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Findings of Fact. The “WHEREAS” clauses set forth above are hereby 
adopted as the City Council’s preliminary findings of fact in support of the moratorium imposed 
by this ordinance. The City Council may, in its discretion, adopt additional findings at the 
conclusion of the public hearing referenced in Section 5 below.  
 

Section 2. Moratorium Established. A moratorium is hereby enacted prohibiting within 
the City of Covington the location, establishment, licensing, operation, maintenance, or 
continuation of any medical marijuana dispensary, any medical marijuana production facility, 
any medical marijuana processing facility, or any medical marijuana collective garden, whether 
for profit or not for profit, asserted to be authorized or actually authorized under E2SSB 5073, 
Chapter 181, Laws of 2011, Chapter 69.51A RCW, or any other laws of the state of Washington. 
No building permit, occupancy permit, or other development approval shall be issued for any of 
the purposes or activities listed above, and no business license or registration shall be granted or 
accepted while this moratorium is in effect. Any land use permits, business licenses, or other 
permits for any of these operations that are issued as a result of error or by use of vague or 
deceptive descriptions during the moratorium are null and void and without legal force and 
effect.  
 
As used in this ordinance, the following terms have the meanings set forth below: 

 
A. “Medical marijuana dispensary” any business, agency, organization, cooperative,   

network, consultation operation, or other group, or person, no matter how described or defined, 
including its associated premises and equipment, which has for its purpose or which is used to 
grow, select, measure, package, label, deliver, sell, or otherwise transfer (for consideration or 
otherwise) marijuana for medical use. A person who is the designated provider for only one (1) 
qualified patient during any fifteen (15) day period and who complies with Chapter 69.15A 
RCW, shall not be deemed a medical marijuana dispensary for the purposes of this moratorium.  

 
C. “Medical marijuana processing facility” means premises and equipment where 

marijuana products are manufactured, processed, handled or labeled for sale, delivery, or transfer 
(for consideration or otherwise) to a medical marijuana dispensary, or to more than one 
qualifying patient within any fifteen (15) day period. 

 

162 of 171



4 of 5 
 

D. “Medical marijuana production facility” means premises and equipment where 
marijuana is planted, grown, harvested, processed, stored, handled, packaged or labeled for sale, 
delivery, or transfer (for consideration or otherwise) to a medical marijuana processing facility, a 
medical marijuana dispensary, or to more than one qualifying patient within any fifteen (15) day 
period. 

 
E.  “Medical marijuana collective garden” means a group of qualifying patients that share 

responsibility for acquiring and supplying  the resources required to produce and process 
marijuana for medical use. Examples of collective garden resources would include, without 
limitation, the following: property used for a collective garden; or equipment, supplies, and labor 
necessary to grow and harvest marijuana; marijuana plants, seeds, and cuttings; and equipment, 
supplies, and labor necessary for proper construction, plumbing, wiring, and ventilation of a 
garden of marijuana plants. A medical marijuana collective garden shall satisfy the above 
definition regardless of its formation, ownership, management, or operation as a business, 
agency, organization, cooperative, network, consultation operation, group, or person. A person 
who is the designated provider for only one qualified patient during any fifteen (15) day period 
who complies with Chapter 69.51A RCW or a person who is a qualified patient and who 
complies with RCW 69.51A, shall not be deemed a medical marijuana collective garden for the 
purposes of this moratorium. 

 
Section 3. Effective Period of Moratorium. The moratorium established by this ordinance 

shall become effective as set forth in Section 7 below, and shall continue in effect for twelve 
months thereafter unless repealed, renewed, or modified by the City Council after a subsequent 
public hearing and entry of findings of fact. 

 
Section 4. Work Program. The City Manager is authorized to allocate the necessary 

resources to prepare a work program to address issues related to determining the legality of 
medical marijuana dispensaries, production facilities, processing facilities, and collective 
gardens, including but not limited to review of the pending dispute between state and federal law 
enforcement authorities regarding the legality of medical marijuana use under any circumstance 
and notwithstanding the enactment by the state legislature of RCW 69.51A. In the event that 
such uses are ultimately determined to be legal, the work plan should also review and research 
the most appropriate zoning districts in the city for such medical marijuana uses, and develop 
related development regulations and performance standards applicable to medical marijuana uses 
in the city as may be necessary. 

 
Section 5. Public Hearing to be Held. A public hearing on the issue of the moratorium 

shall be held no later than sixty (60) days after the date of adoption herein. 
 
Section 6. Severability. Should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this 

ordinance, or its application to any person or circumstance, be declared unconstitutional or 
otherwise invalid for any reason, or should any portion of this ordinance be pre-empted by state 
or federal law or regulation, such decision or preemption shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance or its application to other persons or circumstances. 

 

163 of 171



5 of 5 
 

Section 7. Effective Date. This ordinance, as a public emergency ordinance necessary for 
the protection of the public health, public safety, public property, or public peace, shall take 
effect and be in full force immediately upon its adoption. The city clerk is directed to publish a 
summary of this ordinance at the earliest possible publication date.  

 
 

ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, WASHINGTON, AT 
A REGULAR MEETING THEREOF, THIS 9th DAY OF AUGUST, 2011. 
 

      
Mayor Margaret Harto 

 

PUBLISHED:  August 12, 2011 

EFFECTIVE:   August 12, 2011 

ATTESTED: 

 

      
Sharon Scott, City Clerk 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

      
Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 

164 of 171



Agenda Item 4 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  August 9, 2011 
 
SUBJECT: INTRODUCTION OF CIP 1127 - SR 516:  JENKINS CREEK TO 185TH AVE SE 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Glenn Akramoff, Public Works Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 
None 
 
PREPARED BY:  Don Vondran, PE, City Engineer 
 
EXPLANATION: 
The purpose of this agenda item is to update Council on the process and timeline for designing 
CIP 1127 – SR 516:  Jenkins Creek to 185th Avenue SE.  Back in 2006, we went through the 
consultant selection process for this project and chose INCA Engineers (Tetra Tech).  However, 
funding was not available at that time to continue the design process.   
 
Funds remaining (approximately $800,000) from the $2,000,000 received from the state 
legislature is expected to cover a majority of the project design costs.  We are working with 
INCA to finalize the project scope and are working with PSRC and WSDOT to transfer the 
remaining funds to the new project.  Once these details are worked out, we will have a better idea 
of the funding available and any necessary matching requirements for the project.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
There is no fiscal impact at this time.  Once a scope and fee is negotiated, staff will bring the 
contract with INCA back to Council for consideration and approval. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION: 
 

NO ACTION NECESSARY – DISCUSSION ITEM ONLY 
 
REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, City Attorney, Finance Director 

165 of 171



Agenda Item 5 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: August 9, 2011  
 
SUBJECT:  CONSIDER SUBLEASE AGREEMENT WITH KING COUNTY 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Derek Matheson, City Manager  
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  To be provided separately 
 
PREPARED BY: Derek Matheson, City Manager  
 
EXPLANATION: 
The King County Sheriff’s Office, in an effort to reduce costs and improve police service, is 
poised to abandon its current East Precinct headquarters in Maple Valley in favor of a new 
headquarters in Sammamish and satellite facilities throughout East King County.   
 
The sublease agreement includes the following terms: 

• The city will sublease to the county approximately 1,000 square feet in City Hall. 
• The county will credit the city’s police services contract annually in an amount 

approximately equal to the city’s costs per 1,000 square feet (lease payment and 
operating expenses). 

• The county will also credit the city for space no longer used in Maple Valley. 
• The county will reimburse the city for tenant improvement costs. 

 
The agreement achieves three noteworthy objectives: 

• Makes productive use of surplus space in City Hall. 
• Increases the number of law enforcement personnel based in the city limits from 13 to as 

many as 33 (a few are non-commissioned). 
• Reduces the city’s police services contract. 

 
ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Do not authorize the city manager to enter into a sublease agreement. 
2. Direct changes to the sublease agreement. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Approximately $32,000 per year (positive) 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution    X    Motion          Other 
 

Councilmember ____________ moves, Councilmember ______________ seconds 
to authorize the city manager to enter into a sublease agreement with King County 
in substantially the form provided. 

 
REVIEWED BY:   Police Chief, City Attorney, Finance Director, Public Works Director  

166 of 171



Agenda Item 6 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: August 9, 2011  
 
SUBJECT:  DISCUSS MULTIFAMILY PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION INCENTIVE  FOR 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Derek Matheson, City Manager  
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  None 
 
PREPARED BY: Derek Matheson, City Manager  
 
EXPLANATION: 
State law gives cities with 15,000 or more residents the authority to exempt a portion of 
qualifying multifamily development projects from property taxes for eight years as an economic 
development incentive.  Renton, Kent, Auburn, Federal Way, Des Moines, and SeaTac are South 
King County cities that offer this incentive.   
 
The exemption applies to the increased value of new multifamily construction only.  It does not 
apply to the underlying land, any existing construction on the site, or any new retail or office 
construction on the site.  
 
To qualify for the incentive, a project must be in a target area designated by the city council.  (In 
Covington, this could be the town center zone, other downtown zones, and/or the new 
multifamily zone.)  In addition, a project must have at least four dwelling units, and 50% of its 
units must be intended for permanent occupancy.  Cities can add other conditions.  Kent has 
added a condition that a project is mixed-use, and Auburn has added a minimum financial 
investment.  If a city adds an affordable housing condition, the exemption can be extended to 12 
years. 
 
State law prescribes an application process that features a conditional certificate phase, a contract 
phase, a final certificate phase, and a monitoring phase with possible revocation.  Cities can 
charge administrative fees at each step in the process.  Most cities give their community 
development directors authority to issue, deny, and revoke certificates (with an option to appeal 
to their hearing examiner) but retain for their city councils the authority to approve contracts.  
The latter ensures that exemptions cannot be granted without councils’ knowledge and consent.   
 
Staff has surveyed other cities that offer the incentive to find out whether it is worthwhile, 
whether they have used it, and how much staff time is involved.  Responding cities (Kent, 
Auburn, Des Moines, and SeaTac) indicated they believe the incentive is worthwhile but they 
have not used it yet and therefore cannot comment on staff time.  Kent may use the incentive in 
the very near future to jumpstart a stalled parking-garage project. 
 
State law requires a city that wants to pursue the incentive to adopt a resolution that sets a public 
hearing regarding the target area and an ordinance to create the incentive.   

167 of 171



 
Staff believes a multifamily property tax exemption for mixed-use projects would be a valuable 
incentive to have in the city’s economic development toolbox and seeks direction whether to 
prepare 1) a resolution and ordinance with a mixed-use condition and 2) a conceptual financial 
impact i.e. new future property tax revenue associated with a new mixed-use development 
project minus foregone future revenue associated with the multifamily component of that project. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Direct staff not to proceed 
2. Direct staff to include an affordable housing component 

a. Direct staff to include a 12-year option 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Staff time to prepare documents. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution        Motion     X    Other 
 

DISCUSSION AND DIRECTION TO STAFF 
 

REVIEWED BY:   Community Development Director; Finance Director; City Attorney 
 

168 of 171



  
Covington City Council Meeting 

           Date: August 9, 2011  
 
 
 
 

DISCUSSION OF  
FUTURE AGENDA TOPICS: 

 
 

August 23, 2011 – City Council Regular Meeting 
 

 (Draft Agenda Attached) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

169 of 171



Covington: Unmatched quality of life 
AGENDA 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
 
Tuesday, August 23, 2011                                                                          City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                  16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
  
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   
  
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 

• Metro Transit Strategic Plan and Congestion Reduction Charge Presentation – David 
Hull (15 minutes) 

• Clean Covington Day Proclamation – September 10, 2011 (Slate) 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT Persons addressing the Council shall state their name, address, and organization for the record. Speakers 
shall address comments to the City Council, not the audience or the staff. Public Comment shall be for the purpose of the Council receiving 
comment from the public and is not intended for conversation or debate.  Public comments shall be limited to no more than four minutes per 
speaker.  If additional time is needed a person may request that the Council place an item on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Approval of Minutes (Scott) 
C-2. Approval of Vouchers (Hendrickson) 

 
REPORTS OF COMMISSIONS 

• Arts Chair Sandy Bisordi: July 7 and August 11 Meetings. 
• Parks & Recreation Chair David Aldous:  July 20 and August 17 Meetings. 
• Planning Chair Sean Smith:  July 7, July 21, August 4, and August 18 Meetings. 
• Human Services Chair Haris Ahmad:  July 14 and August 11 Meetings. 
• Economic Development Co-Chair Hugh Kodama:  July 28 Meeting. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
1. Approve Aqua Vista Drainage Contract (Akramoff) 
2. Discuss South End ARCH Agreement (Throm) 
3. Public Engagement Process Charter (Hendrickson) 
4. Second Quarter Financial Reports (Hendrickson) 
 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS 
 - Future Agenda Topics 
 - AWC Annual Conference Report (Mhoon) 
 

Draft 
As of 8/4/11 

170 of 171

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�


PUBLIC COMMENT (*See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section) 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION:  If needed 
  
ADJOURN    
 
Any person requiring disability accommodation should contact the City of Covington at (253) 638-1110 a minimum of 24 hours 
in advance.  For TDD relay service, please use the state’s toll-free relay service (800) 833-6384 and ask the operator to dial 
(253) 638-1110.  

171 of 171


	08-09-11 Special Metting for Interviews and Regular Meeting
	Tuesday, August 9, 2011                                                                            City Council Chambers
	ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

	APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	PUBLIC COMMUNICATION - None

	Consent C-1 Green Sheet 08-09-11 Minutes Approval
	Consent Agenda Item C-1

	Consent C-1 Attachment 1 06.28.11 Reg CC
	Consent C-1 Attachment 2 07.12.11 Special for Interviews & Reg CC
	Consent C-2 Green Sheet 08-09-11 Vouchers Approval 08-09-11
	Consent Agenda Item C-2

	Consent C-2 Attachments
	Consent C-3
	Consent C-3 Green Sheet 08-09-11 Street Cleaning Contract - Best Parking Lot
	Consent C-3 Attachment 1 2011 Covington Maple Valley Street Sweeping Contract
	CITY OF COVINGTON
	AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES
	RECITALS:
	City of Covington
	Attn:  Maintenance Supervisor
	CITY OF COVINGTON
	By: Derek Matheson
	BEST PARKING LOT CLEANING INC.
	By: Rich Hamilton
	COUNTY OF ____________)
	GIVEN my hand and official seal this ___ day of _________________, 2011.

	Consent C-3 Attachment 1 Exhibit B1 MAPLE_VALLEY_SWEEPING_ROUTES
	Consent C-3 Attachment 1 Exhibit B2 Parade_Map_09_final

	Consent C-4 Green Sheet Cornerstone Agenda Bill_080911
	Consent Agenda Item C-4

	Consent 4 Attachment 1 _ Cornerstone Plat Map
	OceTDS700-1007193
	OceTDS700-1007194
	OceTDS700-1007195
	OceTDS700-1007196
	OceTDS700-1007197
	OceTDS700-1007198

	Consent C-4 Attachment 2 _  Cornerstone SEPA MDNS
	Consent C-4 Attachment 3 _ Cornerstone Hearing Examiner Decision
	Consent C-4 Attachment 4 - Cornerstone_Resolution
	Consent C-4 Attachment 4 - Exhibit 1 _ Cornerstone Plat Map
	OceTDS700-1007193
	OceTDS700-1007194
	OceTDS700-1007195
	OceTDS700-1007196
	OceTDS700-1007197
	OceTDS700-1007198

	Item 1 Attachment 1 Staff Memo to PC Comp Plan Docket 06-16-11
	Item 2 Attachment 2 CPA 2011-1 New Shoreline Master Program Element 2-1-11
	Item 1 Attachment 3 New SMP Element Ch. 13 FINAL 2-17-11
	13.0  shoreline Element

	Item 1 Attachment 4 CPA 2011-2 Application New Parks Element 1-20-11
	Item 1 Attachment 5 New Parks Element Ch. 6 FINAL 1-17-10
	6.0 PARKS AND RECREATION ELEMENT

	Item 1 Attachment 7 Revised Figure 4.5 Downtown Street Types Map for 171st Ave. SE 2-17-11
	Item 1 Attachment 8 Figure 5.7 Revised 20-year CIP Map with 171 Ave. SE 2-17-11
	Item 1 Attachment 9 DRA 2011-1 Application Design Standards Street Type Map Revision CMC 18
	Item 1 Attachment 10 Revised Design Standards Downtown Street Types Map 2-17-11
	Item 2 08-09-11 Appointments Planning Commission
	Agenda Item 2

	Item 3 Blue Sheet Planning Commission Recommendation on Medical Marijuana Changes Saved
	Item 3 Attachment 1 Medical Marijuana Regulation Memo from City Attorney to PC 07-11-2011
	Item 3 Attachment 2 Medical Marijuana Moratorium Ordinance
	Item 4 08-09-11 Introduction of CIP 1127
	Agenda Item 4

	Item 5 08-09-11 Sheriff Lease
	Item 6 08-09-11 Multifamily Property Tax Exemption
	Future Agenda Cover Sheet
	08-23-11 Regular Meeting
	Tuesday, August 23, 2011                                                                          City Council Chambers
	ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

	APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	PUBLIC COMMUNICATION

	Item 1 Blue Sheet 2011 Comp Plan Amendment Docket 08-09-11.pdf
	Agenda Item 1



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




